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GENERAL INFORMATION  

 

Business name:     OÜ Koduliising (since 25.04.2019) 
Former business name:   Liisi Valdus OÜ (until 25.04.2019) 
Registry code:     14571396 
Activity field:    Holding company 
First entry:    21.09.2018 
OÜ Koduliising legal address:  Lääne county, Haapsalu city, Posti street 30, 90504 
Holm Bank AS legal address:  Lääne county, Haapsalu city, Posti street 30, 90504 
(subsidiary) 
SIA „Best Lizings“    Pils iela 16, Alūksne, LV-4301, the Republic of Latvia 
(subsidiary of Holm Bank AS) 
Telephone:     +372 675 5055  
E-mail:      info@holmbank.ee  
Group website:     www.holmbank.ee 
Reporting period:     21.09.2018 -31.12.2019  
Auditor:      Ernst & Young Baltic AS 
Members of the Management Board:  Arne Veske 
Owner and final beneficiary (100%):  Arne Veske 
Reporting currency:   EUR 
Presented units:    in thousands 
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ABBREVIATIONS AND KEY 
 
The following styles of abbreviation are used in current Annual Report: 
 
GAAP   Generally Accepted Accounting Principles/Practice 
IASB   International Accounting Standards Board 
Interpretations IFRS Interpretations Committee 
Committee (formerly International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)) 
YOY   Year-on-year 
APR  Annual Percentage Rate 
EIR  Effective Interest Rate 
OCI  Other comprehensive income 
CGU  Cash generating unit 
FVOCI  Fair value through other comprehensive income 
FVPL  Fair value through profit or loss 
SPPI  Solely payments of principle and interest 
DVA  Debit value adjustment 
CVA  Credit value adjustment 
FVA  Fair value adjustment 
ECL  Expected credit loss 
12mECL  12 month expected credit loss 
LTECL  Lifetime expected credit loss 
PD  Probability of default 
LGD  Loss given default 
EAD  Exposure at default 
POCI  Purchased or originated credit impaired (financial assets) 
GLP  Gross Loan Portfolio 
NLP  Net Loan Portfolio 
NPL  Non-performing loans (defaulted) 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
OÜ Koduliising (hereinafter: the Company) is a private limited company based on private capital and operating in Estonia. 
The Company performs its business objectives through its subsidiaries Holm Bank AS and SIA “Best Lizings”. 
As a 100% shareholder, the Company has a controlling interest over the business of the subsidiary Holm Bank AS 
(hereinafter: the Bank).  At the end of September 2019, Holm Bank AS acquired a 51.07% share in the Latvian company SIA 
Best Līzings. Together, these companies form a consolidation group (hereinafter: Group). Current annual report of the 
Company  is prepared for the period 21.09.2018 until 31.12.2019.  
The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented as a continuation of the Bank's reporting (incl. 
comparative data for the full year), as the Company and the Bank are under the control of the same individual and 
therefore, the substance of the transaction was capital re-organization. 
 
In 2019, changes took place in the management of the Bank and several new employees and top specialists in their field 
joined the Bank. This strengthened the Bank's operating structure and supported the Group's development. In July, there 
was a change in the Bank's management when Rauno Klettenberg, who has worked in the financial sector for a long time, 
including for more than 15 years in the banking sector, became the Chairman of the Management Board. 
The year 2019 was successful for the Group in several different aspects and and set path to go forward with a strong sense 
of confidence. Most important achievement during the year was obtaining a credit institution license in April 2019. This 
was followed by the launch of several new products. The Group started to provide both credit products and deposits to 
the business customers. Becoming a bank allowed us to take a big step forward in our operations and strategic 
development. Our customer base has increased significantly, as well as our asset base, and at the same time we have 
reduced our direct financing costs. 
Stable income growth was supported both by the economic environment and the constant growth of private 
consumption. The year was exemplified by steady growth in revenues, assets and customer base, which all were key 
factors in achieving a good financial result. For the first time, the Group also consolidated Latvian subsidiary, which due 
to the consolidation process had an impact on the reduced net profit. However, subsidiary allows the Group potentially 
to increase both the volume of assets and revenue from new market. 
The Group took strategic step and launched cross-border operations. In this connection, we signed a cooperation 
agreement with Europe's leading deposit-taking platform Raisin. We started offering term deposits to German and 
Austrian customers, while decreasing dependencies only from local market and diversified funding sources. In addition, 
we acquired Latvian subsidiary SIA “Best Lizings”, whose main activity has been offering credit products to the private 
individual segment. 
In May, a business loan to small and medium size companies, was added to the Bank's product portfolio. Our focus was 
primarily on financing smaller, sustainable companies. By the end of the year, loan portfolio of business customers 
increased close to 2 million Euros, and the largest sector was wholesale and retail trade. 
We aim to be reliable partner for small businesses, which often have investments needs in an environment, where there 
is not sufficient cash flow to make one-off payment to invest. Addition to that we also help companies to finance and cover 
their working capital needs. 
Bank’s core products are loan and deposits and we do not offer settlement services. We also do not deal with cash, 
whereas most of the provided services are available online. Bank checks customers' backgrounds’ in accordance with all 
"know your customers" and anti-money laundering rules. We are very diligent and understand the significance of this 
issue. 
We have strengthened our risk management while maintaining the current risk profile. Most of the sales growth has 
resulted from private financing and instalment products, where our customers' risk behaviour is historically more 
transparent. The rapid growth of volumes has also necessitated the skilful management of credit risk, where the Bank has 
been successful. 
 

STRATEGY 

In 2019 the European Banking Authority approved the issuance of credit institution license for the Bank. Since April 8th, 
2019, the Bank’s legal name is Holm Bank AS.  
Holm Bank AS is a credit institution based on Estonian capital whereas the Bank's financial services are mainly related to 
the Estonian market. The main activity of the Bank are the provision of consumer and business financing through various 
financial services and credit products (consumer credit, business loans, leasing, credit card) in retail and e-commerce 
using "Holm" and "Liisi" trademarks. The Bank also offers fixed-term deposits. 
There have been many changes in the Banking sector during the year, while from regulatory perspective the whole 
industry is operating in a dynamic environment. The number of large Scandinavian banks has decreased and many of 
them have taken steps to exit from the Estonian market. This has provided new opportunities for smaller players in the 
Banking industry, including Holm Bank AS. Holm Group's home market is Estonia and Latvia. This year we have attained 
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a license for cross-border services in the Swedish market, where we are ready to launch credit products to private 
individuals. 
The Estonian banking market has undergone significant changes where the market share of local banks has increased, 
mainly due to lower activity of Scandinavian-owned banks. As Bank is still a smaller player in terms of its volumes, we 
have not determined our objectives by general market share, nor will we set market share targets by segments. We shall 
focus on organic growth and are offering our customers products that allow them to meet their own targets and strategic 
objectives. This shall maintain also primary approach to grow our customer base in the future. 
We have approved a decision that will enable us to contribute to the modernization of the Bank's technology and the 
renewal of core systems. This, in turn, will ensure smooth customer service, while we remain in line with requirements of 
today's banking regulations. 
In the case of private individuals, we place strong emphasis on maintaining the existing customer base, increasing 
customer satisfaction, as well as acquiring new customers. We do this by offering loan products and deposits in addition 
to instalment products. 
In the case of companies, we have placed our focus on increasing the volume of small and medium size companies in the 
loan portfolio, while keeping the portfolio diversified. We want to help customers who have a clear understanding and 
ambitions how growing their business. As the average loan amounts are relatively small, it is important to have a 
meaningful understanding of the business activities of these companies, followed by high-quality monitoring. 
The Group's support functions are managed centrally. Financial and risk management of the Latvian subsidiary SIA “Best 
Lizings” is coordinated at Holm Bank level. Legal support consists of an outsourced local service, which is coordinated 
also at the Group level. In this way, the principles of risk management as well as KYC and AML procedures will be 
harmonized and shall meet the Group standards. 
 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 

Throughout 2019, economic environment turned out to be favorable and supported the growth. At the beginning of the 
period, we expected increase both in private and corporate revenues to continue. That expectation was based on the 
positive outlook of economic growth. In terms of products, there was an expectation to expand credit card sales and 
portfolio, and even faster growth in microcredit. In terms of sales and portfolio of the classic instalment product, we 
expected the downward trend to continue in 2019, which was due to the continued shift in customer preferences towards 
credit cards and small loans. 
The economic environment remained favorable for the operations of the Bank during the year. According to Statistics 
Agency, Estonia's gross domestic product (GDP) increased by 4.3% in 2019, which also supported private consumption. 
Last year's price growth was relatively moderate for the Estonian economy. The competitive situation remained relatively 
similar with the outcome from previous years. Favorable economic environment had a positive effect on the new sales of 
the Bank and on the quality of the loan portfolio. 
Global economic activity remained subdued and showed signs of stabilization by the end of the year. In particular, the 
global manufacturing sector strengthened in the last quarter of 2019, while activity in the services sector remained 
broadly unchanged. Although, there were signs of stabilization at end of year, global trade remains modest. Changes in 
financial markets were minor last year. Asset price developments continue to be supported by the accommodative 
monetary policy stance and improved risk tolerance as trade tensions have eased further. At the end of last year, economic 
growth in Europe slowed down. Annual CPI inflation in the euro area rose to 1.3% in December 2019, primarily reflecting 
faster energy price inflation. Although labor cost pressures have intensified due to tighter labor market conditions, 
sluggish growth is holding back its pass-through to inflation. 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND CHANGES IN THE OPERATING ENVIRONMENT IN 2020 

Since the end of the year, significant events have taken place during the present year that will significantly change the 
outlook for the operating environment. Due to the global spread of the coronavirus, global risk tolerance deteriorated 
sharply, and market volatility increased rapidly. Long-term risk-free interest rates in the euro area declined, reaching 
much lower levels than at the beginning of the period. With global risk aversion soaring, euro area stock prices fell sharply 
and the spread between government and corporate bond yields widened. Increasing volatility in foreign exchange 
markets and the euro appreciated sharply against the currencies of the euro area's 38 most important trading partners. 
The growth outlook for the global economy is overshadowed by various risks, which through trade partners also have a 
negative impact on the well-being of the Estonian economy and businesses. The deteriorating growth outlook means that 
the profits, competitiveness and ability to service loans of Estonian companies may be hit harder in the future. 
In Estonia, the current situation affects essentially most of the sectors in economy. The impact is particularly strong in the 
tourism sector, wholesale and retail trade and the service sector. The effects of the virus are transmitted to the economy 
through various channels. Firstly, the direct effect of restrictions on virus control, which hampers the work of companies. 
In turn the whole economy is also affected by decline in tourism and other travel services. 
Exports-imports and production have had impact of instability, as external demand from countries with a higher impact 
of the virus had declining. Disruptions in international supply chains also had a negative impact. 
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The central bank has also estimated that private consumption and investment shall continue with declining trend. People 
may postpone their spending to avoid the risk of infection and due to general uncertainty, and companies may limit 
investment. 
The economic forecasts made at the beginning of the period must be adjusted, and this can be done once the real impact 
of the coronavirus can be assessed more accurately. 
 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Current period was the first to record the financial performance of the OÜ Koduliising group. Nevertheless Holm Bank AS 
has longer history, and therefore the results can be compared based on the past of the performance of Holm Bank AS. 
Last year's financial results of the Group are characterized by strong growth. The Group’s consolidated interest income 
during the first financial year amounted to 10.1 million Euros. We are also pleased with the rapid growth and volume of 
the deposit and loan portfolio. The Group’s consolidated total statement of financial position increased by 94.5% 
(compared to the starting point), reaching up to 56,1 million Euros by the end of the December. The volume of sole 
shareholder’s equity is still high and makes up 31.2% of the Group's consolidated statement of financial position. Total 
equity is even higher, making 33.4% of the Group's consolidated statement of financial position. 
Although we launched a business loan product in 2019, by the end of the year, majority of the loan portfolio consisted of 
our two main products, which were instalments and credit cards. 
The volume of the credit card amounted to 14.9 million Euros by the end of 2019. At the same time, both the number of 
card users and the average credit limit used by the card user increased significantly. Consumer loan product, launched on 
the market at the end of November 2018, continued to be favoured by customers throughout the previous year and 
increased by 8.1 million Euros during the year 2019. 
The consolidated financial portfolio of the Group amounted to 44.6 million Euros at the end of the year. The largest 
contribution to the growth resulted from private loan and a credit card product. 
The instalment balance itself and the share in the portfolio decreased during the year as expected. What plays significant 
part, however, is the fact that we still have an extensive network of partners who offer our instalment products in more 
than two thousand points of sale. A clear alternative to instalment product is both a small loan and a credit card, which 
allow financing the purchase in the network of the above-mentioned cooperation partners as well as in e-shops where it 
is possible to pay by card. 
In 2019, we also continued cooperation with Nord Varaliising OÜ to offer small leasing to companies. The business loan 
portfolio reached 2,0 million Euros by the end of the year, and the number of contracts 96 makes the average contract 
amount 20,8 thousand Euros. Thus, the concentration of the portfolio is low and well distributed. 
The quality of the financing portfolio remained relatively stable during the year and the share of non-performing loans 
(delayed payments between 90-365 days) remained at 2.4%. In terms of private credit products, the smallest share of debt 
was in small loans both during the year and at the end of the year, where debts over 90 days accounted for 2.1% of the 
portfolio. The corresponding share of credit card portfolio was 2.4% and the share of the leasing portfolio was 3.1%. 
The term deposit portfolio amounted to 34.6 million Euros by the end of the year. The loan-to-deposit ratio rose to 126% 
by the end of December. 
 
 
GOVERNING BODIES 

The governing bodies of the group of OÜ Koduliising is the Management Board in person of Arne Veske. 
The Supervisory Board of Holm Bank AS consists of five members, who is responsible for the Group´s strategical decisions 
and supervises the actions of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board is appointed by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders for a three-year term.  
The Management Board of Holm Bank AS consists of three members who are responsible for the Group’s day-to-day 
management. The Management Board is appointed by the Supervisory Board for a three-year term. When appointing 
members of the Management Board, the Supervisory Board ensures that the Management Board that is formed would be 
sufficiently diverse in composition through a profile of knowledge, skills, experience and education in order to make sure 
that the Management Board has the capability to effectively manage all of the Group's operating segments.  
All members of a governing body are appointed based upon requirements applicable to members of governing bodies 
pursuant to the provisions of the Credit Institutions Act according to which the appointed individual must have the 
necessary knowledge, skills, experience, education, professional qualifications and impeccable reputation in business to 
be able to manage a credit institution. The Group has adopted an internal policy for the evaluation of the suitability of a 
member of its governing body: suitability is evaluated before the individual is appointed member of a governing body 
and, if necessary, during their term of office as members.  
The sole owner of the Bank is Koduliising OÜ (before April 25th, 2019 business name was Liisi Valdus OÜ) that is owned 100 
% by Arne Veske who is also the ultimate controlling party owner of companies within the Group. 
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COMMITTEES 

The Group has established the following committees:  
 Audit committee formed by the Bank’s Supervisory Board members that acts as an advisory body in respect of 

accounting, auditing, internal control and audit.  
 Risk committee where the chairman of the committee is a member of the Supervisory Board and members of 

the committee are members of the Management Board and selected key persons. The risk Committee’s main 
responsibility is the development of risk management strategy and activity plans for mitigating risks.  

 Credit Committee that is competent decision-making organ with credit issuing.  
 IT-development Committee that evaluates the Group’s IT related development needs and coordination of IT 

development priorities.  

 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 

For the purposes of ensuring the effectiveness of the Group's operations, reliability of financial reporting, compliance of 
operations with applicable laws and other legislation, internal regulations approved by governing bodies and the 
adoption of decisions on the basis of reliable and relevant information the Group has established an internal control 
system that involves all operational and management levels. The internal control system is based on three levels. The first 
level constitutes internal control that takes place internally within each division. The second level is made up of risk 
management function that operate as autonomous and independent control unit. The third level comprises the internal 
audit unit (in 2019  performed by KPMG Baltics OÜ).  
 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE GROUP 

The structure of the Group is designed and confirmed by the Bank’s Management Board according to the guidelines given 
by the Supervisory Board and taking into consideration of the Group’s future development plans. With the accession of 
the “Best Lizings” SIA subsidiary to the Group, the Group coordinates its daily activities based on the principle of 
consolidation, which entails the establishment of collective and coordinated objectives and the implementation of 
common core values.  
Group’s structure as at 31.12.2019 is given on the following sheet: 
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REMUNERATION POLICY  

The Bank has developed a unified remuneration policy that has been approved by the Supervisory Board. Adherence to 
objectives set by Remuneration Policy is controlled by the internal auditor.  
The compensation structure consists of two components:  

 basic salary, which is fixed pay agreed between employee and the Group within the employment contract.  
 performance fee, which is an additional pay decided on the Group’s resolution (bonus).  

Bonuses are paid by the end of the calendar year to employees based on the contribution for achieving the Group’s goals. 
The basic salary and performance fee are reasonably balanced. The sum of performance fee is confirmed by the 
Supervisory Board. The Group does not have employees whose remuneration would exceed at least one million Euros per 
year. 
In addition to monetary incentives, the employees also have non-monetary benefits such as flexible working hours, 
possibility to work from home, different common activities and benefits for sporting. The employees work under 
employment contracts, members of the governing bodies work under authorization agreements.  
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CONSOLIDATED KEY FINANCIAL PARAMETERS 
 

thousands of euros 2019
Average assets 44 441
Average equity attributable to owners 17 907
NLP 44 575
Total assets 56 095
Total deposits 35 404
Net interest income 8 835
Net fee income (expense) -1 044
Other income 404
Net operating income 8 195
Expenses -6 091
Profit before credit losses 2 104
Net allowance for credit losses on financial instruments -2 199
Income tax -122
Profit (loss) for the year -216
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent 255

LCR % 152,9%
NSFR % 145,6%
EBITDA, th.EUR 3 646
ROA % 0,6%
ROE % 1,4%
CFROI % 11,8%
CIR % 57,7%
NIM % 21,7%
SPREAD % 19,6%
Loan to asset % 79,5%
Loan to deposits % 125,9%

 
 
 
Explanations: 
Capital adequacy levels (LCR, NSFR) are calculated according to COREP report as at the end of each year   
EBITDA (profit/loss before taxes, depreciation and interest expense)  
Return on assets (ROA) = net profit (attributable to owners of the parent company) / average assets * 100  
Return on equity (ROE) = net profit (attributable to owners of the parent company) / average equity (attributable to owners 
of the parent) * 100  
CFROI = Operating profit / average equity (attributable to owners of the parent) * 100  
Cost to income ratio (CIR) = total operating expenses / total income * 100  
Net interest margin (NIM) = net interest income/average interest earning assets * 100  
Spread = yield on interest earning assets – cost of interest-bearing liabilities  
Loan to asset = net loans / total assets * 100  
Loan to deposits = net loans / deposits * 100  
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CAPITAL BASE 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019
Paid-in share capital 5
Share premium 20 995
Accumulated profit -3 525
Profit or loss eligible 0
Intangible assets (subtracted) -857
Tier 1 own funds 16 618
Additional Tier 1 capital 0
Total Tier 1 capital 16 618
Total Tier 2 own funds 0
Total net own funds 16 618

Capital requirements
Credit institutions under standard method** 1 260
Regional governments or local authorities 10
Retail exposure under standard method 35 034
Overdue exposure under standard method 3 538
Other assets under standard method 3 183
Total capital requirements for covering the credit risk and counterparty credit risk 43 024
Capital requirement against foreign currency risk under standard method 0
Capital requirement against interest position risk under standard method 0
Capital requirement against equity portfolio risks under standard method 0
Capital requirement against credit valuation adjustment risks under standard method 0
Capital requirement for operational risk under base method 12 058
Total capital requirements for adequacy calculation 55 083
Capital adequacy (%) 30,2%
Tier 1 Capital Ratio (%) 30,2%
Core Tier 1 Capital Ratio (%) 30,2%

  
 
*Deductions fort common equity tier 1 items according to Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and 
the Council of 26 June2013 on Prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms Article 36.1.(a). 
** standard method – as defined by Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and the Council of 26 June 
2013 on Prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms, Part III, Title 2, Chapter 29. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE BANK’S SUBSIDIARY IN 2019 

SIA „Best Lizings“

thousands of euros Q4 2019
Net interest income 216
Net fee and commission income -68
Total net operating income 148
Other income 5
Operating expenses -222
Income tax -13
Credit losses -881
Net loss -962
Loan portfolio 2 259
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY IN THE GROUP  

The Group follows the generally accepted market principles of marketing in its promotional activities and communication. 
It is essential that public information provided, corresponds to Group’s operations. The Group shall not be placed in a 
better light than its competitors and competitors are not disparaged. The Bank’s website reflects the products we offer, 
as well as information that it is the website of a financial service provider and there is an invitation to read the terms and 
conditions and consult an expert. In advertising activities, we follow the advertising norms and restrictions applicable to 
financial institutions and check the compliance of the content and texts of advertisements with legislation. The Group 
makes sure that the information is relevant and straightforward for the customers to understand.  
 
ECONOMIC VALUE CREATED BY THE GROUP DURING THE FIRST YEAR 

 

thousands of euros 2019 2018
Total taxes paid 839 427
Taxes paid (except labor taxes) 209 52
Labor taxes 630 374
Salaries paid 1 898 1 118
Jobs created 25 24
Dividends paid 300 0
Purchases from suppliers 7 400 5992
incl. Estonian suppliers 6 798 5969
Investments made 364 332
incl. investments on innovation 61 0

 
 
The Group currently in progress of developing of the Virtual Card IT platform and the new Core system which is treated as 
investments on innovation. 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
 

thousands of euros Note 2019 2018

Interest income 10 137 8 007
Interest expense -1 302 -946
Net interest income 6 8 835 7 061

Fee income 0 0
Fee expense -1 044 -1 531
Net fee income (expense) 7 -1 044 -1 531
Other income 404 62
Net operating income 8 195 5 592

Salaries and associated charges 8 -2 528 -1 493
Administrative and other operating expenses 8 -3 179 -1 718
Other expenses -144 0
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,13-16 -240 -126
Total operating expenses -6 091 -3 337

Profit (loss) before allowances for credit losses 2 104 2 255

Net allowance for credit losses on financial instruments -2 199 -163
Profit (loss) before income tax -95 2 093

Income tax 9 -122 0
Profit (loss) for the year -216 2 093
Equity hoIders of th e parent 255 2 093
Non-controlling interest -471 0

Total other compehensive income (loss) for the year 0 0

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year -216 2 093
Equity hoIders of th e parent 255 2 093

Non-controlling interest -471 0

 
 
Notes on pages 17 to 64 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.   

HT712AR
Stamp
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

thousands of euros Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Assets
Cash and balances with central bank 10 1 499 0
Amounts due from credit institutions 10 6 299 23
Receivables from customers 2 0
Loans and advances to customers 11 44 575 29 478
Other assets 12 900 993
Investment property 13 1 053 1 044
Property, plant and equipment 14 674 663
Right-of-use assets 15 237 0
Intangible assets 16 857 586
Total assets 56 095 32 787

Liabilities
Deposits from customers 17 35 404 0
Loans received 17 376 13 074
Other liabilities 18 1 602 1 374
Total liabilities 37 382 14 448

Equity
Non-controlling interest 1 238 0
Share capital 19 5 5
Share premium 19 20 995 20 995
Retained earnings 19 -3 525 -2 661
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 17 475 18 339
Total equity 18 713 18 339

Total liabilities and equity 56 095 32 787

 
 
Notes on the pages 17 to 64 are incremental part of this annual report 
  

HT712AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

thousands of euros Note 2019 2018
Profit (loss) before income tax -94 2 093
Corrections -5 402 -6 164

Interest incomes -10 137 -8 007
Interest expenses 1 302 946
Net allowance for credit losses on financial instruments 2 199 163
Depreciation and amortisation expense 240 126
Other corrections 994 609

Changes in loans and advances to customers -14 591 -5 692
Changes in other assets -81 -491
Change in CB reserves and interest claims -1 500 0
Received deposits 35 156 0
Changes in other liabilities 527 0
Paid interests -946 -721
Received interests 9 805 7 060
Received loans 4 450 5 385
Repayments of received loans -17 150 -993
Cash flows from operating activities 10 174 477

Additions of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -657 -756
Received from the sales of investment properties 0 526
Received from the sales of other financial instruments 0 50
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired -2 749 0
Cash flows from investing activities -3 406 -180

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities -88 -8
Dividends paid -307 -300
Paid CIT (corporate income tax) -97 -75
Cash flows from financing activities -492 -383

Change in cash and cash equivalents 6 276 -86

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 23 109
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6 276 -86
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period* 10 6 299 23

Cash and cash equivalents comprise 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Cash on hand 0 0
Non-restricted current account 10 6 299 23

 
 
Reserve capital at central bank is not taken into an account in the statement of cash flows.  
Notes on the pages 17 to 64 are incremental part of this annual report. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

thousands of euros

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Statutory 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total
Non-

controlling 
interest

Equity

Balance as at 01.01.2018 50 14 471 0 1 725 16 246 0 16 246
Profit for the year 0 0 0 2 093 2 093 0 2 093
Total comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 2 093 2 093 0 2 093
Transfer to statutory reserve 0 0 5 -5 0 0 0
Recapitalization -45 6 524 -5 -6 474 0 0 0
Balance as at 31.12.2018 5 20 995 0 -2 661 18 339 0 18 339

Balance as at 01.01.2019 5 20 995 0 -2 661 18 339 0 18 339
Profit for the year 0 0 0 255 255 -471 -216
Total comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 255 255 -471 -216
Acquisition of subsidiary 0 0 0 -1 119 -1 119 1 710 591
Balance as at 31.12.2019 5 20 995 0 -3 525 17 475 1 238 18 713

 
 
Current Group was formed by a non-monetary contribution to share capital of OÜ Koduliising by 100% shares of Holm 
Bank AS and the value of the investment was estimated at 21 000 thousand euros at the time of establishment, of which 5 
thousand euros was recorded as share capital and the rest as share premium. The valuation was performed by an external 
expert using the discounted cash flow method based on the equity cost for 5-year period.  
The consolidated report is presented as a continuation of the Holm Bank Group (incl. comparative data), as Holm Bank 
AS and OÜ Koduliising were exclusively owned by the same natural person and the merge of the two companies was not 
a business combination but a capital restructuring. The difference between the share capital of Holm Bank AS and OÜ 
Koduliising is recognized directly in equity. 
 
Acquisition of Latvian subsidiary is disclosed in more detail in Note 5.  
Notes on pages 17 to 64 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
The Group’s main area of activity is to offer consumer financing in retail and e-commerce under the “Liisi” trademark. The 
main area of activity is the issuance of small loans in the form of consumer loans, hire-purchase, credit cards, leasing and 
business loans. Until 30th of September 2019 the Group has operated solely in Estonian marketplace. At the end of 
September, the Group has acquired a 51,07% ownership in Latvian entity SIA “Best Lizings”  
The Group is a credit institution with a concentrated circle of owners. The ultimate controlling party of Holm Bank AS 
belongs to OÜ Koduliising, whose sole shareholder is Arne Veske. The registered address of the Bank is Posti tn 30, 
Haapsalu City, Estonia. 
On 2nd April 2019, the European Central Bank issued a credit institution license to Holm Bank AS to act as a creditor 
(Decision No. 4.1-1 / 14 of the Management Board of the Financial Supervision Authority of 06.03.2017). From that moment 
also the consolidated group of OÜ Koduliising qualified as consolidated credit institution. As of 08.04.19, the Bank 
performs its business under the name of Holm Bank AS.  
The shareholders of the Group have the right not to approve the prepared report and to demand the preparation of a new 
report. 
 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
OÜ Koduliising and its direct subsidiary Holm Bank AS form registered consolidated credit institution in Estonia. In 
addition to OÜ Koduliising and Holm Bank AS, the consolidation group (hereinafter the Group) includes also financial 
results of SIA „Best Lizings”, in which Holm Bank AS has 51,07% direct ownership. The acquisition of this company took 
place in autumn 2019 as a result of a transaction between companies under common control. 
 
BASIS OF PREPARATION 

OÜ Koduliising and Holm Bank AS  (hereinafter: the Bank) consolidated financial statements for the year 2019 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted in the European Union.  
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost and going concern basis (see also Note 23). 
Current annual report is the first report of OÜ Koduliising, prepared for the period 21.09.2018 to 31.12.2019. The 
consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented as a continuation of the consolidated financial statements 
of Holm Bank AS (incl. comparative data). All Euro values in this report are presented in thousands of Euros.  
The preparation of consolidated annual report in accordance with IFRS requires the Management Board to use critical 
accounting estimates in certain areas. 
The original consolidated financial statements of the Group has been prepared is Estonian. In case of the conflict with 
English, the Estonian version shall prevail. 
 
Basis of consolidation 
 

The subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when control commences until the date when control ceases.  
 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group 
controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee) 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 
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Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption 
and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the 
Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When 
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash 
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 
noncontrolling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit 
or loss. If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the former subsidiary 
from the consolidated statement of financial position, recognizes any investment retained in the former 
subsidiary at its fair value when control is lost and subsequently accounts for it and for any amounts owed by or 
to the former subsidiary in accordance with relevant IFRSs. That fair value shall be regarded as the fair value on 
initial recognition of a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9 or the cost on initial recognition of an investment 
in an associate or joint venture. 
The accounting principles are applied consistently when consolidating ownership interests in subsidiaries and 
are based on the same reporting periods as those used for the parent company. When preparing the 
consolidated financial statements, intra-group transactions and balances, along with unrealized gains and 
losses on transactions between Group entities, are eliminated. 
 

Business combinations and goodwill 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the 
amount of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects 
whether to measure the noncontrolling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquiree. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial 
instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in 
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration 
that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or toss. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and 
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the 
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acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured 
based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 
Subsidiary 
 

Subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and could affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiary is consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
Intra-group receivables and liabilities, transactions and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the 
Group entities are eliminated upon consolidation. Financial statements of the subsidiary have been amended, 
where necessary, to bring its accounting principles into conformity with the accounting principles adopted by 
the Group. The financial year of the subsidiary coincide with the parent financial year. 
 
Business combinations under common control are accounted for using a pooling of interest method. Under the 
pooling of interest method, the acquirer accounts for the combination by recognizing the assets and liabilities 
of the acquire at their carrying amounts. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognize any new 
assets or liabilities, at the date of the combination that would otherwise be done under the acquisition method.  
 
The only adjustments made are to align accounting policies. No ‘new’ goodwill is recognized as a result of the 
combination. The only goodwill that is recognized, if any, is any existing goodwill relating to either of the 
combining parties. Any difference between the consideration transferred and the acquired net assets is reflected 
within equity. Any non-controlling interest is measured as a proportionate share of the book values of the related 
assets and liabilities. Any expenses of the combination are expensed immediately in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Comparative amounts have not been restated as if the combination had taken place at 
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. Instead, the Group accounts for the combination 
prospectively from the date on which it occurred. 
 
In consolidated statement of comprehensive income non-controlling interest share of profit or loss is disclosed 
separately from owners of the parent. Non-controlling interests’ share in subsidiary’s results and Equity is 
recognized in consolidated statement of financial position separately from the Equity attributable to the 
shareholders. 

 
The Bank separate reports presented in the notes of the consolidated annual report 
 

The parent company’s primary financial statements in note 22 are prepared using the same accounting 
principles, except for the recognition and measurement of the subsidiary, as those that have been used for 
preparing the consolidated annual report. 

 
Recognition of interest income and expenses 
 

Occasionally, the Group earns fee and commission income from financial services it provides to its customers. 
Fee and commission income is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing the services. 
When the Group provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and generally due immediately 
upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time. Expenses that are directly related to the generation of 
fee and commission income are recognized as fee deduction. 
The Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
financial assets other than credit-impaired assets and purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial 
assets. Financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’ (NPL), the Group 
calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. 
If the financial assets cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the Group reverts to calculating interest income on 
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a gross basis. For POCI financial assets, the Group calculates interest income by calculating the credit-adjusted 
EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset The credit-adjusted EIR is the interest rate 
that, at initial recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized 
cost of the POCI financial asset. 
More details are disclosed in accounting principles Note section „Amortized cost and effective interest rate (EIR). 
The effective interest rate (EIR) method 
Under IFRS 9 interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 
The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Group recognises interest income 
using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the 
loan. Hence, it recognises the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, and other 
characteristics of the product life cycle. 
 

Recognition of other fees 
 

The Group recognizes under fees and commission income the cancellation fees of 2% charged to customers for 
early termination. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognize revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This core principle is delivered in a five-step model 
framework: 
(i) Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
(ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
(iii) Determine the transaction price 
(iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
(v) Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
Terms and conditions related to the loan contracts set each party's rights and obligations in the credit relation 
and are approved by both parties; this includes also after-sales services provided by the Group. 
 

Foreign currency transactions and assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency 
 

The functional and presentation currency of the Group is Euro. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency have been translated into Euros based on the 
foreign currency exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the statement of financial position 
date. Foreign currency transactions are recorded based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the European 
Central Bank prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
revaluation are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as finance income and expenses of that 
period. 
 

Fair value measurement 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Fair values of financial assets or liabilities, including derivative 
financial instruments, in active markets are based on quoted market prices. 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole: 
• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 —Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable 
• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. 
Fair value hierarchy for financial instruments is disclosed in Note 3.21. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand 
deposits in central bank and other banks, that are available for use without any restrictions. 
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Group’s consolidated and unconsolidated cash flow statements are recorded by using the indirect method for 
the reflection of operating activities. 
 

 Accounting principles of financial instruments 
 
Initial recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to 
customers, are initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when funds are 
transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Group recognizes balances due to investors when funds are 
transferred to the Group. 
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value (as 
defined in Note 3.21), except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction 
costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. 
Group classifies all of its financial assets based on the asset’s contractual terms, the Group’s business model and 
SPPI assessments - measured at either: 
• Amortized cost 
• FVOCI 
• FVPL 
Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or 
at FVPL when they are held for trading and derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied. 
 

Financial assets - classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Debt instruments 

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s 
perspective. Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on: - the Group’s business 
model for managing financial assets; and - the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  
Business model: the business model reflects how the Group manages the financial assets in order to generate 
cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets 
or to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is 
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 
other business model and measured at fair value through profit or loss. Factors considered by the Group in 
determining the business model for management of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for 
these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key management 
personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers of the Group are compensated. The Group’s 
business model for unsecured consumer loans is to collect contractual cash flows. The Group has not sold so far 
debt instruments, sales shall be considered, when the significant increase in credit risk is identified. Therefore, 
the business model for the portfolio is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows. Cash flow characteristics 
of the asset: where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual 
cash flows and sell the assets, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. In making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual 
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to additional risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the three measurement categories: 

 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are 
measured at amortized cost.  

 Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where 
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated 
at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

 Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income are measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

During the reporting period, the Group has measured all its debt instruments at amortized cost.  
There were no changes in the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. 
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Amortized cost and effective interest rate (EIR) 
The amortized cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective 
interest rate (hereinafter EIR) method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount 
and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowances. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any allowance) or to the amortized cost of a 
financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes all fees paid and 
received between contracting parties, transaction costs, premiums or discounts that are integral to the effective 
interest rate, such as origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets – 
assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition – the Group calculates the credit-adjusted EIR, which is fair 
value at initial recognition of the financial asset instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact 
of expected credit losses in estimated future cash flows. When the Group revises the estimates of future cash 
flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new 
estimate discounted using the original EIR. Any changes in value are recognized in income statement. 
 

Equity instruments 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, 
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuer’s net assets or assets after deducting all the liabilities. The Group has decided to measure equity 
investment at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

Modification of loans 
As per customer’s request the Group may renegotiate the contractual terms. Changes to contractual terms are 
normally not substantially different to the original agreement and therefore the renegotiation or modification 
does not result in contract derecognition. The Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset based on the revised cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate and recognizes a 
modification gain or loss in income statement. The Group also considers potential impact in deterioration in 
credit risk, depending on the terms of the modification. 
 

Loans write-off’s 
The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and 
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Financial assets are derecognized when collection 
is no longer considered probable. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, 
the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying 
amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense. 

 
Expected credit loss methodology of the Group 
 
Overview of the ECL principles 

 
The measurement of ECLs reflects: 
• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount, 
• The time value of money; and 
• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. 
The methods used by the Group to measure ECLs may vary based on the type of financial instrument and the 
information available. 
The allowance loss (or reversal) recognized in profit or loss is the amount required to adjust the loss allowance 
to the appropriate amount at the reporting date. 
 
Cash shortfalls 
A cash shortfall is the difference between: 

• The cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract; and 
• The cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

Cash shortfalls are identified as follows: 
• For 12-month ECLs cash shortfalls resulting from default events that are possible in the next 

12 months (or a shorter period if the expected life is less than 12 months). 
• For lifetime ECLs cash shortfalls resulting from default events that are possible over the 

expected life of the financial instrument. 
Debt collection costs 

The Group typically incurs costs in collecting its debts. These might include the following: 
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• Employee benefits for collections staff, telecommunications, postage and legal and court fees. 
These are generally recognized as operating expenses when they are incurred in accordance with 
the IFRS requirements applicable to such items. 

• The costs of obtaining and selling collateral that is part of the contractual terms of a debt 
instrument, which are reflected in the estimate of expected cash shortfalls on a collateralized 
financial asset. 

To measure ECLs on a collective basis, financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics. Shared credit risk characteristics: 
 

• Instrument type; 
• Credit risk ratings; 
• Collateral type; 
• Remaining term to maturity; 

Collective basis of ECL measurement is performed for the following financial instruments: 
• Hire-purchase; 
• Consumer loans; 
• Car loans; 
• Credit cards; 
• Business loans. 
 

More detailed segmentation may be applied for allowance purposes as appropriate for model development. 
The Group has been recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial 
assets not held at FVPL, in this section all referred to as 'financial instruments’. The ECL allowance is based on 
the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or LTECL), unless 
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on 
the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The Group’s policies for determining if there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk are set out in Note 3.4 -3.15. 
The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 
Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on collective basis. 
The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change 
in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. 
 
Based on the above process, the Group groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described 
below: 

• Stage 1: When loans are first recognized, the Group recognizes an allowance based on 12mECLs. Stage 
1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified 
from Stage 2. 

• Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Group records 
an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved, 
and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3. 

• Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Group records an allowance for the LTECLs. 
• POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit 

impaired on initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and 
interest income is subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. The ECL allowance is only 
recognised or released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 

 
For financial assets for which the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire 
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is 
considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset. 
Impairment losses and releases are accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value 
 
The main parameters the Group uses in assessing credit risk are the probability of default (PD), loss given default 
(LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key 
elements are, as follows: 

 
The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A 
default may only happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been 
previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. The probability of default reflects how high is the 
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probability that the loan customer will experience a settlement default of more than 90 days by the 
12th month after the assessment. 
The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and 
interest, whether scheduled by contractor otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, 
and accrued interest from missed payments. 
The Loss Given Default reflects the economic loss that may occur in the event of default of more than 
90 days on the basis of country specific loss rates identified using historical loss statistics. It is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to 
receive, including from the realization of any collateral or credit enhancements that are integral to the 
loan and not required to be recognised separately. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. 

 
Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are estimated for the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI receivables. The inputs for these 
LGD rates are estimated and, where possible, calibrated through backtesting against recent recoveries. These 
are repeated for each economic scenario as appropriate. 
 
The mechanics of the ECL method are summarized below: 
 
Stage 1  The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from 

default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date. The Group calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a 
default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. 
These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied 
by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original EIR. 
Delinquency stage which includes customers whose credit behavior is historically good and 
whose internal credit rating is white, green or yellow. 

Stage 2 When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Group 
records an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, 
including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of 
the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation to the 
original EIR. 

 Delinquency stage which includes customers whose internal credit rating is red. These 
customers have their credit risk significantly increased since initial recognition. 

Stage 3 For loans considered credit-impaired, the Group recognizes the lifetime expected credit 
Iosses for these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 
100%. 

 Delinquency stage which includes customers who have defaulted on their loans – i.e. late 
payments have reached over 90 days. The internal credit rating for these customers is black. 

POCI Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit 
impaired on initial recognition. 

 
Definition of default 

The definition of default is consistent with that used for internal credit risk management purposes. 
Defaulted clients are considered to be those whose internal credit rating is black – i.e. late payments 
have reached over 90 days. When appropriate, qualitative indicators are taken into an account into the 
definition of default. The definition of default is applied consistently, unless information that becomes 
available indicates that another default definition is more appropriate for a financial instrument. 
 

Forward looking information 
In its ECL models, the Group relies on the following forward-looking information as economic input (Note 3.10-
3.11): 

• Unemployment rate 
• Labor productivity and unit labor cost 
• Average gross wages growth 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the 
date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as 
temporary adjustment when such differences are significantly material. 
 

Time horizon 
Generally, time horizon used to analyze the information from the past is considered at least 12 month. 12-month-
horizon is also used the other way for forward-looking estimates. 
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Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized on the balance sheet at their acquisition costs. After initial 
measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Amortized 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an integral 
part of the EIR. 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where an  existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying 
value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Assessing significant increase in credit risk 
 

At each reporting date assessment is performed to determine whether the credit risk on a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recognition.  
Significant increase in credit risk is considered to have taken place if any of the following criteria is met: 

 The contractual payments of the lending exposure are past due for more than 30 days; 
 Internal credit grading system rates the borrower to be with a significant increase in credit risk.  

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk is performed on a collective basis unless financial instruments 
are measured for ECLs on an individual basis. 
For the purpose of assessing significant increases in credit risk on a collective basis, financial instruments are 
grouped on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics. Shared credit risk characteristics: 

 Instrument type; 
 Credit risk ratings; 
 Collateral type; 
 Remaining term to maturity; 

The aggregation of financial instruments may change over time as new information becomes available. 
The presumption that credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly when payments are more 
than 30 days past due can be rebutted only if the Group has reasonable and supportable information 
demonstrating that even if contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, this does not represent a 
significant increase in credit risk. For example, this might be the case if: 

 Non-payment was an administrative oversight instead of resulting from the borrower’s financial 
difficulty; or 

 Historical evidence demonstrates that there is no correlation between a significant increase in the risk 
of default on financial assets and payments on them being more than 30 days past due, but there is 
such a correlation for financial assets on which payments are more than 60 days past due. 

Credit grading system 
 

Significant increase in credit risk is identified on the borrower’s credit rating since initial recognition. Information 
obtained from credit grading system is used as a supplement to form an appropriate basis for identifying 
significant increases in credit risk 
Description of the internal credit grading system are the following: 

 White – new contract that has no historical information; 
 Green – contractual payments have been paid on time or at a maximum been due for 7 days; 
 Yellow – contractual payments have been due for 8 – 30 days; 
 Red – contractual payments have been due for 31 – 90 days; 
 Black – contractual payments have been due for over 90 days. 

Payment practice of borrowers may improve, and this is influenced in the credit grading system. However, 
improvement can happen grade-by-grade (e.g. if the credit grading system has been black, it can only improve 
to red). 
 
The following table gives an overview of how significant credit risk is assessed based on credit grading system: 
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Rebuttable presumption of 30 days past due 

There is a rebuttable presumption that credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
when payments are more than 30 days past due. The presumption can be rebutted only if an entity has 
reasonable and supportable information demonstrating that even if contractual payments are more 
than 30 days past due, this does not represent a significant increase in credit risk. 

 
Macro-economic forecasts and forward-looking information 
 

The measurement of ECL of the Group is an unbiased probability-weighted amount determined by 
evaluating a range of possible outcomes using reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost and effort at the reporting date, including forecasts of future economic 
conditions. 
The Group evaluates three possible macro-economic scenarios: 

 Baseline scenario which is based on neutral forecasts and most likely expectations of future 
economic conditions. 

 Negative scenario which is based on expectations of negative economic conditions and the 
effect of those conditions on expected credit losses. 

 Positive scenario which is based on expectations of positive economic conditions and the 
effect of those conditions on expected credit losses. 

Each possible macro-economic scenario receives a probability of occurring. This probability is a 
management estimate and is based on reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that 
is available without undue cost and effort. This estimate may include both external and internal 
forward-looking information. 

 
Developing macro-economic scenarios 

Macro-economic scenarios are developed internally. Externally developed forecast is consulted when 
developing macro-economic scenarios. Possible sources include (but are not limited to): 

 Bank of Estonia  
 Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Estonia. 

Macro indicators for the ECL model have been chosen based on statistical analysis of correlations between 
the macro indicators and the observed external proxies of default rates. 
The following observed external proxies of default rates were used for statistical analysis: 

 Stock of loans overdue data from Bank of Estonia was used as a proxy of default rates.  

The following macro indicators were used for statistical analysis: 
 Unemployment rate 
 Labour productivity and unit labour cost 
 Average gross wages growth 
 Inflation rate 
 EURIBOR rate 
 House price index growth 
 

Only variables that have at least a moderate or higher correlation been selected as appropriate macro indicators 
for macro-economic scenario developments. Selected macro indicators used for macro-economic scenarios are 
the following: 

 Unemployment rate shows strong observed correlation and significance with the proxy default rate. 
Lower unemployment rate means borrowers are able to repay the loans. Higher unemployment rate 
reduces the borrower’s ability to repay the loans. 

 Labour productivity and unit labour cost is strongly correlated with the default rates. In general, 
economic growth can be attributed to growing employment or rising labour productivity. When labour 
productivity decreases it may be estimated that economic growth is slowing down. This can have a 
similar effect on default rates that to those changes in unemployment rate and average gross wages 
growth. 
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 Average gross wages growth is strongly correlated with the default rates. Higher incomes give the 
ability for the borrowers to repay the loans. Lower incomes decrease the ability of the borrowers to 
repay the loans. 

 
The following table summarizes the selected macro indicators statistical analysis: 
 

 
 
Macro-economic scenarios are monitored actively and developments in macro-indicators are incorporated as 
new data becomes available. This is performed quarterly.  
The macro-economic scenarios developed are documented separately. 

 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets are initially recognized at acquisition cost, consisting of the 
purchase price and costs directly related to the purchase. The assets are then recognized at their acquisition 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated losses from impairment. The straight-line method is used 
for depreciation and amortization of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets, the expected residual 
value is zero. 
 

Property, plant and equipment  
Property, plant and equipment are items with physical substance that have useful life of more than one year. 
Assets with a shorter useful life are expensed as incurred. 
Assets with indefinite useful life, (land, art pieces, museum exhibits and books) are not depreciated.  
The estimated economic useful lives are as follows: 

 Buildings     30 years 
 Computer Software    10 years 
 Machinery and Equipment    5 years 
 IT equipment and furniture    5 years 
 Land and art     not amortized 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are recognized in the statement of financial position only if the following conditions are met: 

 the asset is controlled by the Group;  
 it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will be collected by 

the Group; 
 the acquisition cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets (except for goodwill) are 

amortized using the straight-line method over the useful life of the asset. Property, plant, equipment 
and intangible assets are tested for impairment if there are any indicators of impairment (except for 
goodwill). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use 
are tested for impairment annually by comparing their carrying amount with their recoverable 
amount. 

 
Computer software 

Costs associated with the ongoing maintenance of computer software are recognized as an expense as incurred. 
Acquired computer software, which is not an integral part of the related hardware, is recognized as an intangible 
asset. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable software 
products controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 
 

 it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;  
 Management Board intends to complete the software product and use it; 
 there is an ability to use the software product;  
 it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;  
 adequate technical, financial and other resources for completing the development and using the 

software product are available;  
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 the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.  
 
Capitalized software development costs include payroll expenses and other expenses directly related to 
development. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent 
period. Computer software development costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives (up to 10 years) 
using the straight-line method. 

 
Investment property 

Investment property comprise land and buildings held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both rather 
than used in the Group own business activities. Investment property is initially recognized at cost, comprising 
its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to its acquisition.  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis. Depreciation rates are determined separately for each 
investment property, depending on its useful life. The useful life of investment property is 30 years for buildings. 
Land is not depreciated.  
An investment property shall be derecognized on disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains and losses arising 
from derecognition of investment property are recognized in profit or loss for the period. 
 

Lease accounting 
 
IFRS 16: Leases 

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both 
parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). The new standard requires lessees to 
recognize most leases on their financial statements. Lessees have a single accounting model for all leases, with 
certain exemptions. Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged. 
Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is 
required by IAS 17 and, instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model.  

 
The Group as lessee 

Based on the IFRS 16 the lessees will be required to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of 
more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value; and depreciation of lease assets separately 
from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement.  
Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The Group has elected not to 
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or 
less and leases for low-value assets. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
Group has adopted the IFRS 16 as of 01.01.2018. As the result of application, no impact appeared on the total 
assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position as at 01.01.2018. During the year 2018 119 thousand 
euros were additionally recorded as lease and during 2019 23 thousand euros accordingly. Adoption from 
subsidiary amounted in 40 thousand euros from the moment of acquisition. 
Standard has impact of total assets in the statement of financial position as at 31.12.2019 in amount 926 
thousand euros (31.12.2018 105 thousand euros), previously being expensed to comprehensive income 
statement after IFRS 16 implementation being capitalized under rights of use assets in statement of financial 
position. See Note 15. 

 
The Group as lessor 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor 
continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases 
differently. 
The Group provides lease agreement for business customers in cooperation with Nord Varaliising. The Group is 
offering financing for the business customers brought by Nord Varaliising and acquires the asset subject to lease. 
Mediation fees to Nord Varaliising are paid at the moment of asset acquisition. The receivables from the finance 
lease agreements are recognized in net present value of the minimum lease payments, from which the payments 
of principal received have been deducted. Financial income is recognized over the rental period based on the 
pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net investment in the operational lease. Initial 
service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective interest rate and lessor’s net 
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investment. Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest rate and are booked 
as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables are presented 
on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value. The lease receivable from the client is 
recognized in the statement of financial position of delivering the assets being the object of the agreement to 
the client.  

 
Corporate Income Tax 

 
Corporate income tax in Estonia 

Income tax is paid on fringe benefits, gifts, donations, costs of entertaining guests, dividends and 
payments not associated with business activities. There are no differences in Estonia between the tax 
bases and residual book values of assets that could entail deferred income tax, except for the 
temporary differences from certain investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. As the 
parent controls the dividend policy of the subsidiary, it is also able to control the timing of the reversal 
of temporary differences associated with that investment. Therefore, if the parent has decided not to 
distribute such profits in the near future, the parent does not recognize a deferred income tax liability. 
If the parent has decided that dividends will be paid, the deferred income tax liability is recognized to 
the extent of those payments. 
 
Dividend is a disbursement made on the basis of the corresponding resolution of the shareholders of 
the Group from Net Profit or Retained Earnings, in accordance with the dividend recipient’s holding in 
the Group. Pursuant to the Income Tax Act currently in effect, profit distributed as dividends is taxed 
at the rate of 20/80 on the amount paid out as net dividends. The corporate income tax arising from 
the payment of dividends is recognized as income tax expense in the income statement of the period 
in which dividends are declared, regardless of the period for which the dividends are declared or the 
actual payment date. The maximum amount of income tax payable, which would arise from paying out 
the retained earnings as dividends, is disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements. From 1 January 
2018, credit institutions in Estonia have to pay corporate income tax from profits earned in the previous 
quarter. The amendment has been in force since 1 January 2018, but the first payment is calculated 
and declared from the profit earned in the second quarter of 2018. The income tax rate of advance 
payment is 14%. When distributing profits and calculating the related income tax liability, the credit 
institution can take into account the payment paid. Only companies with profits are taxed. From 2019, 
tax rate of 14/86 can be applied to dividend payments. That beneficial tax rate can be used for dividend 
payments in the amount of up to the average dividend payment during the three preceding financial 
years that were taxed with the tax rate of 20/80. When calculating the average dividend payment of 
three previous years, 2018 would be the first year to be taken into account. 

 
Corporate income tax in Latvia  

In accordance with the new Corporate Income Tax Law, starting from 1 January 2018, corporate 
income tax with a rate of 20/80 is applied on profits arisen after 2017. Transitional provisions of the law 
allow for reductions in the income tax payable on dividends, if the entity has unused tax losses or 
certain provisions recognized by 31 December 2017. 
 

Reserves 
 
Statutory reserve 

According to the Estonian Business Law § 336 (3) during each financial year, at least 1/20 of the net 
profit shall be transferred to the statutory reserve, until the statutory and other reserves reach 1/10 (§ 
336 (2)) of share capital. Statutory reserve may be used to cover a loss (§ 337 (1), or to increase share 
capital. Payments to shareholders from statutory and other reserves are not allowed (§ 337 (2). 

Other reserves 
It us up to the Group’s Shareholders meeting to decide that other amounts are also transferred to the 
statutory and other reserves. Statutory and other reserves may also be used to increase the share 
capital and it may not be used for making pay-outs to shareholders. 

 
 
Related parties 
 

The following are considered to be the Group’s related parties in a context of the consolidated financial 
statements: persons named in Credit Institutions Act § 84 (1)-(3). 
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NOTE 1 ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND 
INTERPRETATIONS 
 
The following new or revised Standards and Interpretations were effective as of the beginning of current reporting period: 
 
IFRS 16: Leases 

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both 
parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). The new standard requires lessees to 
recognize most leases on their financial statements. Lessees have a single accounting model for all leases, with 
certain exemptions. Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged. 
As per Management Board there is no significant impact on the income statement, although the presentation in 
the income statement changes as other expenses will be replaced by depreciation of the right-of-use asset and 
interest expenses on the lease liability. There is no significant impact on capital adequacy. 
 

IFRS 9: Prepayment features with negative compensation (Amendment) 
The Amendment allows financial assets with prepayment features that permit or require a party to a contract 
either to pay or receive reasonable compensation for the early termination of the contract (so that, from the 
perspective of the holder of the asset there may be ‘negative compensation’), to be measured at amortized cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income. As per Management Board there is no significant impact 
on the Group financial statements.  
 

IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments) 
The Amendments relate to whether the measurement, in particular allowance requirements, of long- term 
interests in associates and joint ventures that, in substance, form part of the ‘net investment’ in the associate or 
joint venture should be governed by IFRS 9, IAS 28 or a combination of both. The Amendments clarify that an 
entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, before it applies IAS 28, to such long-term interests for which the 
equity method is not applied. In applying IFRS 9, the entity does not take account of any adjustments to the 
carrying amount of long- term interests that arise from applying IAS 28. As per Management Board there is no 
significant impact on the Group financial statements. 
 

IFRIC INTERPETATION 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  
The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that 
affects the application of IAS 12. The Interpretation provides guidance on considering uncertain tax treatments 
separately or together, examination by tax authorities, the appropriate method to reflect uncertainty and 
accounting for changes in facts and circumstances. As per Management Board there is no significant impact on 
the Group financial statements. 
 

IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments) 
The Amendments require entities to use updated actuarial assumptions to determine current service cost and 
net interest for the remainder of the annual reporting period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
has occurred. The Amendments also clarify how the accounting for a plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement affects applying the asset ceiling requirements as per Management Board there is no significant 
impact on the Group financial statements. 

 
The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015 – 2017 Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to 
IFRSs. As per Management Board there is no significant impact on the Group financial statements. 

 
 IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify 

that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously 
held interests in that business. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint 
control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure previously held interests 
in that business. 

 IAS 12 Income Taxes: The amendments clarify that the income tax consequences of payments on 
financial instruments classified as equity should be recognized according to where the past 
transactions or events that generated distributable profits has been recognized. 

 IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: The amendments clarify paragraph 14 of the standard that, when a qualifying 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale, and some of the specific borrowing related to that qualifying 
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asset remains outstanding at that point, that borrowing is to be included in the funds that an entity 
borrows generally.  

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial year 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019 that would be expected to have material impact to the Group. 
 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued, that are mandatory for the Group’s annual periods 
beginning or after January 1st, 2020 and which the Group has not early adopted. 
 
Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 
28, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  The 
main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a 
business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 
2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research 
project on the equity method of accounting. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. As per 
Management Board there shall be no significant impact on the Group financial statements. 

 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards 

The IASB issued the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting on 29 March 2018. The Conceptual 
Framework sets out a comprehensive set of concepts for financial reporting, standard setting, guidance for 
preparers in developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to others in their efforts to understand 
and interpret the standards. IASB also issued a separate accompanying document, Amendments to References 
to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, which sets out the amendments to affected standards in order 
to update references to the revised Conceptual Framework. Its objective is to support transition to the revised 
Conceptual Framework for companies that develop accounting policies using the Conceptual Framework when 
no IFRS Standard applies to a particular transaction. For preparers who develop accounting policies based on 
the Conceptual Framework, it is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.  

 
IFRS 3: Business Combinations (Amendments) 

The IASB issued amendments in Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) aimed at resolving the 
difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The 
Amendments are effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is in the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to asset acquisitions that occur on or after the 
beginning of that period, with earlier application permitted. As per Management Board there shall be no 
significant impact on the Group financial statements. 

 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors: Definition of ‘material’ (Amendments) 

The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 with earlier application 
permitted. The Amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied. The new definition 
states that, ’Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those 
financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity’. In addition, the 
explanations accompanying the definition have been improved. The Amendments also ensure that the 
definition of material is consistent across all IFRS Standards. As per Management Board there shall be no 
significant impact on the Group financial statements. 

  
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amendments) 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and must be applied 
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39 and IFRS 7, which concludes phase one of its work to respond to the effects of Interbank Offered Rates (IBOR) 
reform on financial reporting. Phase two will focus on issues that could affect financial reporting when an 
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with a risk-free interest rate (an RFR). The amendments published, 
deal with issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate 
benchmark with an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge accounting 
requirements in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
which require forward-looking analysis. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
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regarding additional disclosures around uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark reform. As per 
Management Board there shall be no significant impact on the Group financial statements. 

 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments) 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier 
application permitted. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping 
companies determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain 
settlement date should be classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of 
liabilities in the statement of financial position and do not change existing requirements around measurement 
or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose 
about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled 
by the Group issuing own equity instruments. These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. As per 
Management Board there shall be no impact as statement of financial position is presented in order of liquidity. 
 

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, 
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  
 
The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying 
disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future 
periods. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and 
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to circumstances beyond the 
Group’s control and are reflected in the assumptions if and when they occur. Items with the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements with substantial management judgement and/or estimates 
are collated below with respect to judgements/estimates involved. 
 
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

 
The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under 
current market conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated 
using another valuation technique. When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in 
the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety 
of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair 
values. If there is no market price for a given financial asset or liability, its fair value is estimated on the basis of 
the price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments or, in the absence thereof, by using 
mathematical measurement models that are sufficiently tried and trusted by the international financial 
community. The estimates used in such models take into consideration the specific features of the asset or 
liability to be measured and, in particular, the various types of risk associated with the asset or liability. However, 
the limitations inherent in the measurement models and possible inaccuracies in the assumptions and 
parameters required by these models may mean that the estimated fair value of an asset or liability does not 
exactly match the price for which the asset or liability could be exchanged or settled on the date of its 
measurement. The Group has an investment in a former subsidiary in Kosovo which is classified as a financial 
instrument as of December 2019 and is measured at fair value through profit or loss from thereon. No observable 
quoted prices are available for the measurement of such an investment. Instead, management has used 
unobservable {level 3) inputs in the measurement. 

 
SENSITIVITY OF FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS TO CHANGES IN UNOBSERVABLE MARKET DATA  

 
Sensitivity analysis based on exchange rate and interest rate risks and other forward-looking input in ECL 
calculation are given hereinafter by showing the effect of changing the significant unobservable inputs to 
reasonable possible alternatives. All changes except for debt instruments classified as available-for-sale would 
be reflected in the Income statement. Sensitivity data are calculated using a number of techniques, including 
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analysing price dispersion of different price sources, adjusting model inputs to reasonable changes within the 
fair value methodology.  

 
The ranges are not comparable or symmetrical as the model inputs are usually not in the middle of the 
favourable/unfavourable range. 

 
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS  

 
The expected credit loss model follows a "three-stage” approach based on changes in the credit quality of the 
financial instruments since their initial recognition.  
 
The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECL. In order to determine whether an instrument or a 
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group considers an exposure to have significantly increased 
in credit risk when the IFRS 9 lifetime PD has doubled since initial recognition.  
 
The Group also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for an 
asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming forborne. In certain cases, 
the Group may also consider that events are a significant increase in credit risk as opposed to a default. 
Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit 
risk is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition.  
 
When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Bank applies the same principles for 
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.  
 
Group used the following classification into stages:  
• Stage 1 - all non-defaulted loans with DPD<=30 {DPD - Days Past Due) 
 • Stage 2 - all non-defaulted loans with 30<DPD<=90  
• Stage 3 - all defaulted loans (DPD>90)  
• POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets  
 
In its ECL models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs, such as 
unemployment, unit labour and wages growth. 
 
 The inputs and models used for calculating ECL may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the 
date of the financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as 
temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material.  
 
The forward-looking adjustment is performed by comparing the forecasted economic inputs change for one year 
from reporting date, with the latest growth and rate changes available. There is also used a correlation factor of 
90% between the PD and average economic input (set expertly. 
 
It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust 
when necessary. 
 

GOING CONCERN  

 
The Group’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied 
that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not 
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. 
The circumstances related to COVID-19 pandemic are explained in the Annex 23 of current report. 

 
PROVISIONS AND OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

 
The Group operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heightened element of litigation 
risk inherent to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation, arbitration and regulatory 
investigations and proceedings both in Estonia and in other jurisdictions, arising in the ordinary course of the 
Group’s business. When the Group can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specific 
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case and considers such outflows to be probable, the Group records a provision against the case. Where the 
probability of outflow is considered to be remote, or probable, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a 
contingent liability is disclosed. However, when the Bank is of the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a 
case-by-case basis would prejudice their outcome, then the Bank does not include detailed, case-specific 
disclosers in its financial statements. Given the subjectivity and uncertainty of determining the probability and 
amount of losses, the Group takes into account a number of factors including legal advice, the stage of the 
matter and historical evidence from similar incidents. Significant judgement is required to conclude on these 
estimates.  

 
CAPITALIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

 
For capitalization of expenses in process of developing Group’s new core system and other IT systems 
management uses certain assumptions. Capitalization of salary expenses of IT personnel is based on employee 
time sheets and personnel involved in development dedicate up to 100% of their time on developing new 
functionality. Therefore, up to 100% of salary expenses of involved personnel are capitalized under intangible 
assets.  

 
DETERMINATION OF THE LEASE TERM FOR LEASE CONTRACTS WITH RENEWAL AND 
TERMINATION OPTIONS (GROUP AS A LESSEE)  

 
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered 
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Group has several lease contracts that 
include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably 
certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant 
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the 
commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in 
circumstances that is within its control that affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew 
or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation of the 
leased asset). 
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NOTE 3 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

NOTE 3.1 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Risk management is the processes established to ensure that all material risks and associated risk concentrations are 
identified, measured, limited, controlled, mitigated and reported on a timely and comprehensive basis. The objective of 
the risk management framework is to ensure that whenever the Group takes reasonable risks that are required to generate 
reasonable returns, or whenever we put capital at risk, the Group does it in an objective, documented and transparent 
fashion which must be understood and considered by all Group employees and within all activities.   All material risk types 
shall be managed via established risk management processes and communication lines with clear responsibilities 
assigned. 
 
The main risks categories that the Group has identified in its operations are credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, 
operational risk, business risks and capital related risks. The Group shall continuously, as part of ICAAP/ILAAP process, re-
assess and re-identify the Group´s risks and shall update main risk categories list accordingly. 
Financial strength, adequate capitalization and strong liquidity position is main principle of the Group risk management.  
The Group shall possess a well-diversified and balanced risk exposure, over-reliant risk-taking and concentrations shall 
be avoided. The Group shall maintain all the time strong and rather conservative capitalization and capital adequacy. The 
Group shall all the time maintain adequate capital level to cover risks and shall ensure compliance with ICAAP/SREP 
capital requirements as well as target capital level set internally.  
 
 Sound risk culture is core priority of the Group. Risk culture is a term describing shared views, values and beliefs across 
the organization as well as individual attitude to risks, knowledge and understanding about risk and perception of culture. 
Risk culture is behaviour towards taking risk (conservative, rational, aggressive), behaviour towards policy compliance 
and behaviour toward negative outcomes (learning vs blaming culture) within the Group. The risk culture is set of common 
values and principles to manage risk and return.  
The Group risk management is risk appetite driven. The Group takes risks only within risk capacity and shall ensure risk 
taking activities are within the Group capacity of taking such risks. The Group capital shall be all times adequate for 
covering all of risks and must exceed its aggregated risks. The Group must not accept a certain risk, if its capital is 
inadequate for covering future losses resulting from the materialization of this risk or the risk may affect the conservative 
liquidity position. 
 
Maximum level and types of risk the Group is willing to assume, within its risk capacity, to achieve its strategic objectives 
are defined on Risk Appetite Statement established by the Supervisory Board. The risk appetite is basis for the Group risk 
management. Every activity and business decision most comply with the Risk appetite Statement. The Group shall accept 
only risks within its risk capacity and risk appetite in compliance with risk appetite metrics. 
The Group main business activities are consumer and SME finance. Loan portfolio credit risk is predominantly most 
significant risk on the Group risk profile, where above average risk level is accepted. However, the Group shall avoid 
unreasonably high credit risk, using a diversified loan portfolio, a low average loan amount, a higher than average interest 
rate and constant monitoring of the loan portfolio quality for excessive credit risk mitigation. 
The Group risk appetite to all other risk categories is rather conservative, on below average level and risks can be taken 
only to support core activities. The risk exposures to any such other risks, there uncertain changes in any individual 
position may seriously affect the Group overall risk position shall be avoided, mitigated or properly controlled. 
 
The Group applies “three lines of defence” model to identify the functions within the Group responsible to address and 
manage the risks. The business units, as the first line of defence take risks and are responsible for their operational 
management directly and on a permanent basis. For that purpose, business lines should have appropriate processes and 
controls in place that aim to ensure that risks are identified, analyzed, measured, monitored, managed, reported and kept 
within the limits of the institution’s risk appetite and that the business activities are in compliance with external and 
internal requirements. The second line of defence are independent risk management function and compliance functions. 
The risk management function facilitates the implementation of a sound risk management framework throughout the 
Group and has responsibility for further identifying, monitoring, analyzing, measuring, managing and reporting on risks 
and forming a holistic view on all risks on an individual and consolidated basis. The compliance function monitors 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and internal policies, provides advice on compliance to the 
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management body and relevant employees and establishes policies and processes to manage compliance risks and to 
ensure compliance. Third line of defence, the independent internal audit function, conducts risk-based and general audits 
and reviews the internal governance arrangements, processes and mechanisms to ascertain that they are sound and 
effective, implemented and consistently applied. 

NOTE 3.2 OWN FUNDS 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Paid-in share capital 5 5
Share premium 20 995 20 995
Accumulated profit -3 525 -2 661
Profit or loss eligible 0 0
Intangible assets (subtracted) -857 -586
Tier 1 own funds 16 618 17 753
Additional Tier 1 capital 0 0
Total Tier 1 capital 16 618 17 753
Total Tier 2 own funds 0 0
Total net own funds 16 618 17 753

 
 
The Group has been in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements throughout the period. 
 

NOTE 3.3 REQUIREMENTS 
 

CET1 Tier 1

Capital 
Adequacy 

Requirement 
 (CAD)

Base capital requirement 4,50% 6,00% 8,00%
Total SREP capital requirement 4,50% 6,00% 8,00%
Capital conservation buffer 2,50% 2,50% 2,50%
Systemic risk buffer 0,95% 0,95% 0,95%
Capital requirements total 7,95% 9,45% 11,45%
CAD (31.12.2019, actual) 30,17% 30,17% 30,17%

 

 

NOTE 3.4 CREDIT RISK 
 
Credit risk is a risk that the counterparty to transaction is not capable of performing or willing to perform its contractual 
obligations. Within credit risk the Group identified country risk and FX lending risk and concentration risk  
 Credit risk arises in the Group’s direct lending operations, and in its payment services, liquidity management and 
investment activities where counterparties have repayment or other obligations to the Group. 
 Credit risk in loan portfolio is most significant risk of the Group risk profile and most significant driver of the Group overall 
risk exposure. The Group knowingly accept moderate, above average credit risk in loan portfolio. The credit policy 
includes customer base with higher credit risk level and corresponding higher default rate, where higher risk is 
compensated with higher interest rates. At the same time the Group´s target is to avoid unreasonably high risk within 
loan portfolio. 
 The Group credit risk appetite are to avoid over-reliant risk level and risk mitigation through: 
 

 optimal risk and return balance; 
 above average interest rates level; 
 below average contract maturities; 
 significantly below average contract amounts; 
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 well diversified portfolio, risk concentrations shall be avoided; 
 above average proportion of overdues and loan losses, which at the same time shall be properly considered on 

product pricing;  
 adequate and conservative provisioning; 
 constant monitoring of off-balance items; 
 well-controlled credit risk taking and risk profile; 
 strict limiting and constant monitoring the loan portfolio quality. 

 
Responsible lending is critical part of loan portfolio risk appetite. 
 
Credit risk in other assets arising from other statement of financial position and off- balance sheet assets (such as 
investments, fixed assets etc.). The Group target is to hold proportion of other assets risk credit is minimal and the Group 
target risk appetite is rather conservative.   
Credit risk with counterparties arising from payment services which are necessary for servicing the Group's core activities 
and from money market activities associated with holding and management of liquid assets (mainly as exposures to credit 
institutions).  The payment services are not considered to be the Group core business (except services which are necessary 
for servicing the Group's core activities). 
Country risk is a specific form of risk over which the Group can exercise no direct influence, but which may lead to serious 
deterioration of credit quality. 
For country risk mitigation the Group shall continuously monitor and assess economic, social and political developments 
as well as overall macroeconomic situation and regulatory environment developments. As of reporting date the Group's 
target markets are Estonia and Latvia. 
FX lending risk arises from issuing loans, where base currency is other than euro. As a general principle, all credits shall be 
issued on Euro.  As of reporting date all loans issued by the Group are nominated on Euro. 
The Group concentration risk strategy is to avoid significant impact of a default of any single counterparty with well-
diversified loan portfolio, where majority of single customer or connected customer concentrations are below 0,1% of 
total loan portfolio. Large single exposures in credit portfolio shall be avoided or mitigated properly. 
 
 

NOTE 3.5 MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK 
 

thousands of euros Notes 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Due from banks 10 7 797 23
Loans and advances to customers 11 44 575 29 478
Receivables from customers 2 0
Total financial assets 52 373 29 501
Exposures related to off-balance sheet items 20 15 930 15 406
Total maximum exposure to credit risk 68 303 44 907

 
 
 

NOTE 3.6 CREDIT RISK MEASUREMENT 
 

(a) Instalment 

The Group offers instalment product to customers through cooperation partners both in their stores and in online stores. 
The purpose of the instalment payment is to pay for the purchased goods and services according to the repayment 
schedule. In the contract between the Group and the customer the loan amount is fixed which is to be paid to the merchant 
for the purchased goods / services. The maximum loan amount is 10 thousand euros and the contract period is 60 months. 
 

(b) Credit card 

In the case of an instalment card the customer will get a personal instalment limit, within the customer can make 
payments in all stores and e-shops with card payment facilities around the world. The resource of the payment is a 
physical credit card issued to the customer and registered as a VISA co-brand program. The purpose of the instalment 
payment is to pay for the purchased goods and services according to the payment plan. The Group offers a 15-day-
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interest-free period and there is no monthly fee on the card. The maximum credit limit is 5 thousand euros and the 
maximum instalment period is up to 60 months. 
 
 
 

(c) Small Loan 

In the case of a money loan there are no restrictions to the customer's specific purchase, place of purchase or purpose of 
the loan. The loan amount will be transferred to the customer's current account after the loan agreement came into force. 
The loan limit is up to 25 thousand euros and the maximum repayment schedule is 96 months. 
 
 

(d) Leasing 

The purpose of the leasing is to pay for the purchased goods according to the payment schedule. The Group offers leasing 
only for our business clients. The Group acquires the property selected by the Customer from the Seller and leases it to 
the Customer during an agreed period of time. The maximum lease period is up to 60 months. In the end of the lease 
period the Seller has an obligation to purchase the property back or the Customer has option to buy out the property. 

 
(e) Business loan 

In 2019 introduced the Group a new product called business trade credit which offers a flexible and personal financing 
option to our small and medium sized business customers. Business loan can be used either to complete necessary stock 
reserves, for different investments or for other business developments. As collaterals, the Group accepts personal sureties 
and mortgages. We provide loans up to 250 thousand  euros for 60 months.  
 
 

NOTE 3.7 RATING  
 

thousands of euros Notes Rating agency
Credit 

institutions
Total 

31.12.2019

Central bank (The Bank of Estonia) N/A 1 499 1 499
A- to A+ Standard & Poor’s 5 881 5 881
Baa1 Moody's 418 418
Total 10 7 797 7 797

thousands of euros Notes Rating agency
Credit 

institutions
Total 

31.12.2018

Central bank (The Bank of Estonia) N/A 0 0
A- to A+ Standard & Poor’s 16 16
Baa1 Moody's 7 7
Total 10 23 23

 
 
The funds of the Group are represented on the table above according to ratings given by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s 
and central bank is not rated. 
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NOTE 3.8 DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION 
 
31.12.2019
thousands of euros Notes Estonia Latvia Germany Austria Total
Due from banks 10 7 402 395 0 0 7 797
Loans and advances to customers 11 42 140 2 435 0 0 44 575
Receivables from customers 2 0 0 0 2
Total financial assets 49 544 2 830 0 0 52 374
Deposits from customers 17 23 638 0 10 660 1 105 35 404
Loans received 17 376 0 0 0 376
Other financial liabilities 18 1 000 146 0 0 1 146
Total financial liabilities 25 014 146 10 660 1 105 36 926

31.12.2018
thousands of euros Notes Estonia Latvia Germany Austria Total
Due from banks 10 23 0 0 0 23
Loans and advances to customers 11 29 478 0 0 0 29 478
Total financial assets 29 501 0 0 0 29 501
Loans received 17 13 171 0 0 0 13 171
Other financial liabilities 18 1 277 0 0 0 1 277
Total financial liabilities 14 448 0 0 0 14 448

 

 

NOTE 3.9 DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS GRANTED BY INDUSTRY (GROSS) 
 

thousands of euros Notes 31.12.2019 % 31.12.2018 %
Individuals 41 142 88,95% 27 720 91,14%
Wholesale and retail 1 152 2,49% 371 1,22%
Professional, scientific and technical activities 518 1,12% 187 0,61%
Manufacturing 488 1,06% 346 1,14%
Transport and logistics 467 1,01% 287 0,94%
Administrative activities 388 0,84% 138 0,45%
Accommodation and food service activities 381 0,82% 329 1,08%
Construction 371 0,80% 270 0,89%
Agriculture 366 0,79% 158 0,52%
Human health and social work activities 255 0,55% 72 0,24%
Other servicing activities 213 0,46% 86 0,28%
Activities of households as employers; 112 0,24% 127 0,42%
Art and entertainment 91 0,20% 102 0,34%
Information and communication 89 0,19% 58 0,19%
Real estate activities 79 0,17% 30 0,10%
Other areas at activities 139 0,30% 134 0,44%
Total 11 46 250 100% 30 414 100%
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NOTE 3.10 SELECTED MACRO-FINANCIAL INDICATORS  
 
The most significant period-end assumptions, as outlined on the tables below are used for the ECL calculations as at 31 
December 2019. The scenarios "base", "upside" and "downside" were used for all portfolios. The Group uses same 
economic variable assumptions both for private persons and companies.  
 

For private person credit portfolios
Base 

scenario
Downside 

scenario
Upside 

scenario
General macro-financial indicators 2020E 2020E 2020E
Wage growth, % 5,73% 1,73% 7,73%
Unemployment rate, % 5,20% 9,20% 3,90%
Labour productivity and unit labour cost (change), % 2,03% -1,97% 3,83%

 

For companies
Base 

scenario
Downside 

scenario
Upside 

scenario
General macro-financial indicators 2020E 2020E 2020E
Wage growth, % 5,73% 1,73% 7,73%
Unemployment rate, % 5,20% 9,20% 3,90%
Labour productivity and unit labour cost (change), % 2,03% -1,97% 3,83%

 

Weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 31 December 2019 
Base 

scenario
Downside 

scenario
Upside 

scenario
Weights of economic scenarios 75,00% 20,00% 5,00%

 
 

NOTE 3.11 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
 
The table below illustrates the impact of changing scenario weights of positive and negative scenarios to the portfolio as 
it was at 31 December 2019. 
 

31.12.2019 65-5-30 65-15-20

thousands of euros (base/up/down) (base/up/down)

Change in scenario weights 90 -46

 
Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2019 that would result from reasonably possible changes in 
these parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Group's economic variable assumptions (for example, the 
impact on ECL of increasing the estimated unemployment rate by X% in each of the base, upside, downside scenarios): 
 
31.12.2019

thousands of euros
Impact of 

increase
Impact of 
decrease

Unemployment rate +1%/-1% 17 -17
Unit labour +1%/-1% -18 18
Wage growth +5%/- 5% -123 124

 
 
The Group has performed stress test scenarios when PD and LGD estimations will both increase by 0.5. The impact of the 
described stress test to allowance is aggregated in the table below. The table includes loans, which have collective 
allowance, and which have material balances and potential impact. 
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2019

thousands of euros
Impact on loss 

allowances
LGD 0,5% increase 13
LGD 0,5% decrease -13
PD 0,5% growth 83
PD 0,5% decline -80

 
 

NOTE 3.12 MAXIMUM EXPOSURE TO CREDIT RISK – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO ALLOWANCE 
The following tables contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance is 
recognized. Information on how the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured and how the three stages above are 
determined is included in Note 3.6. „Expected credit loss measurement “. The gross carrying amount of financial assets 
below also represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets. 
 

NOTE 3.13 LOANS DISTRIBUTION BY PRODUCT AND BY INTERNAL RATINGS 
 

Business loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

thousands of euros
12-month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

White 0 0 0 0 0
Green 1 906 0 0 0 1 906
Yellow 0 0 0 0 0
Red 0 31 0 0 31
Black 1 0 0 24 0 24
Black 2 0 0 0 0 0
Black 3 0 0 0 0 0

Gross carrying amount 1 906 31 24 0 1 961

Loss allowances -4 -3 -9 0 -16

Carrying amount 1 903 28 15 0 1 945

Purchased 
or Initiated 

credit 
impaired

 
 

Small loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

thousands of euros
12-month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

White 453 2 0 0 456
Green 5 733 8 0 0 5 742
Yellow 1 210 4 0 0 1 214
Red 0 968 0 0 968
Black 1 0 0 347 0 347
Black 2 0 0 0 0 0
Black 3 0 0 0 0 0
Gross carrying amount 7 397 982 347 0 8 727
Loss allowances -39 -89 -131 0 -258
Carrying amount 7 358 894 217 0 8 469

Purchased 
or Initiated 

credit 
impaired
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Leasing Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

thousands of euros
12-month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

White 1 006 3 0 0 1 009
Green 1 089 14 0 0 1 104
Yellow 307 23 0 0 331
Red 0 322 0 0 322
Black 1 0 0 124 0 124
Black 2 0 0 55 0 55
Black 3 0 0 11 0 11
Gross carrying amount 2 403 363 189 0 2 955
Loss allowances -6 -10 -63 0 -79
Carrying amount 2 397 353 126 0 2 876

Purchased 
or Initiated 

credit 
impaired

 
 

Credit card Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

thousands of euros
12-month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

White 18 0 0 0 18
Green 12 502 8 0 0 12 510
Yellow 605 0 0 0 605
Red 0 1 164 0 0 1 164
Black 1 0 0 478 0 478
Black 2 0 0 199 0 199
Black 3 0 0 20 0 20
Gross carrying amount 13 125 1 173 697 0 14 995
Loss allowances -116 -192 -358 0 -665
Carrying amount 13 009 981 340 0 14 330

Purchased 
or Initiated 

credit 
impaired

 
 

Hire-purchase Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

thousands of euros
12-month 

ECL
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total

White 2 251 25 0 0 2 276
Green 3 975 8 0 0 3 982
Yellow 9 043 20 0 0 9 063
Red 0 1 189 0 0 1 189
Black 1 0 0 834 0 834
Black 2 0 0 156 0 156
Black 3 0 0 110 0 110
Gross carrying amount 15 269 1 242 1 101 0 17 611
Loss allowances -60 -112 -484 0 -657
Carrying amount 15 209 1 129 617 0 16 955

Purchased 
or Initiated 

credit 
impaired
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NOTE 3.14 DESCRIPTION OF THE NATURE AND QUALITY OF THE COLLATERAL HELD 
 
Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below: 
 
31.12.2019

thousands of euros

Credit-impaired assets
Business loans 5 109 -106 5 003 3 088

incl. hire-purchase 191 -12 180 0
incl. small loan 2 0 2 0
incl. business loan 1 961 -16 1 945 0
incl. leasing 2 955 -79 2 876 3 088

Loans to private individuals 41 140 -1 568 39 572 0
incl. hire-purchase 17 420 -645 16 775 0
incl. credit card 14 995 -665 14 330 0
incl. small loan 8 725 -258 8 467 0

Total credit-impaired assets 46 251 -1 675 44 575 3 088

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowances

Carrying 
amount

Fair value of 
collateral 

held

 
 
31.12.2018

thousands of euros

Credit-impaired assets
Business loans 2 694 -124 2 570 2 487

incl. hire-purchase 196 -1 196 0
incl. leasing 2 498 -124 2 374 2 487

Loans to private individuals 27 720 -812 26 908 0
incl. hire-purchase 17 320 -509 16 811 0
incl. credit card 9 781 -299 9 482 0
incl. small loan 618 -4 615 0

Total credit-impaired assets 30 413 -937 29 478 2 487

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowances

Carrying 
amount

Fair value of 
collateral 

held

 
 
In case of other loan products – Hire-purchase, Credit card, Small loan, Business loan - and in order to increase customer`s 
credit worthiness, the Group is asking from customers an extra guarantee. 

Loans against collateral as at 31.12.2019

thousands of euros
Hire-

purchase
Credit 

card
Small 

loan 
Leasing

Business 
loan

Total

Others 0 0 0 2 955 0 2 955
Unsecured loans 17 613 14 995 8 727 0 1 961 43 296
Total 17 613 14 995 8 727 2 955 1 961 46 251

Loans against collateral as at 31.12.2018

thousands of euros
Hire-

purchase
Credit 

card
Small 

loan 
Leasing

Business 
loan

Total

Others 0 0 0 2 498 0 2 498

Unsecured loans 17 517 9 781 618 0 0 27 916

Total 17 517 9 781 618 2 498 0 30 414  
In the table above, collateral information of loans and advances are disclosed based on the collateral type and carrying 
value or fair value of collateral held if it is lower.  
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The Group does not consider additional guarantee requested from customer as collateral, rather as enhancement of 
liquidity. All such loans are presented on the table above as unsecured loans, and therefore these are not reassessed. 
 

thousands of euros
Carrying 
amount

Fair value of 
collateral 

held

As at 31.12.2019 44 575 3 088
Hire-purchase 16 955 0
Credit card 14 330 0
Small loan 8 469 0
Leasing 2 876 3 088
Business loan 1 945 0

thousands of euros
Carrying 
amount

Fair value of 
collateral 

held

As at 31.12.2018 29 478 2 487

Hire-purchase 17 007 0

Credit card 9 482 0

Small loan 615 0

Leasing 2 374 2 487

Business loan 0 0

 
 

NOTE 3.15 LOSS ALLOWANCES 
 
In the following table there are presented unused portions of credit card limits. The Group has established provision for 
unused credit cards limit. Assumption used is, that with a period of 30 days the 20% of unused credit card limit could be 
taken into use, e.g. the off-balance sheet liability used for calculating provision amounts to 3 186 thousand Euro and 
provision amounts to 24 thousand Euro.  
The Group has categorized all off-balance sheet liabilities under stage 1 as all customers with debt more than 3 days are 
closed automatically and unused limit is no longer available. 
 
Credit quality of off-balance sheet liabilities (undrawn credit card limits) 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019
Stage 1 15 930
Stage 2 0
Stage 3 0
Total 15 930

thousands of euros 31.12.2018
Stage 1 15 406
Stage 2 0
Stage 3 0
Total 15 406
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NOTE 3.16 MARKET RISK 
 
Market risk is the risk of loss from changes in market prices and rates on unfavorable direction (including interest rates, 
credit spreads, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices), the correlations among them, and their levels 
of volatility. Within market risk the Group identified are currency risk (FX risk), trading portfolio risk (position risk), equity 
risk, and interest rate risk in banking book (IRRBB). The Group does not accept commodity risk. 
Market risk may arise from the Group’s activity at the financial markets (if any) and from majority of Group products: loans, 
deposits, trading portfolio etc. Market risks predominantly arise from the Group’s core business activities, taking the 
market risk is not the Group main activity. 
Based on the overall strategy, the market risk strategy is conservative. Preferred are activities necessary for supporting 
the Group core activities. Speculative market risk positions shall be avoided. The Group does not have trading book. 
Interest rate risk in banking book arises naturally as part of business (mainly due to different maturities of customers loans 
and deposits). 
Taking the trading portfolio positions is not the Group´s core activity. The Group’s risk appetite in its treasury operations 
is driven by the objective of maintaining a strong liquidity and funding position to support the lending activities and shall 
be set by Risk Appetite Statement. 
 

NOTE 3.17 CURRENCY RISK 
 
Currency risk is the risk of loss due to changes in spot and forward prices, and the volatility of currency exchange rates. 
The Group strategy is conservative. The objective of currency risk management is to minimize open net currency positions 
so that the Group would not be too sensitive to foreign currency exchange movements and potential risk to profit will be 
minimal.  Speculative positions shall be avoided, the Group shall mitigate open currency position if considered necessary. 
The Group does not provide currency related services to customers and does not accept any other forms of currency 
trading. As of reporting date all assets and liabilities of the Group are nominated in Euro. 

NOTE 3.18 TRADING PORTFOLIO POSITION RISK 
 
Trading portfolio position risk is a risk to the earnings or market value of a portfolio due to uncertain future interest rates. 
The trading book position risks are broken down into a general risk and specific risk components. General risk is intended 
to potential losses caused by general market fluctuations, the specific risk is caused by issuer-specific risks. 
Taking the trading portfolio positions is not the Group´s core activity. The Group’s risk appetite in its treasury operations 
is driven by the objective of maintaining a strong liquidity and funding position to support the lending activities and shall 
be set by Risk Appetite Statement. The Group risk appetite is on below average level. The Group does not take speculative 
trading positions. The Group does not provide customer focused trading activities.  As of reporting date the Group does 
not have material trading portfolio position risks. 
 

NOTE 3.19 INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
Interest rate risk in banking book (IRRBB) is the current or prospective risk to the institution’s earnings and own funds 
arising from adverse movements in interest rates caused by banking book assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk in 
banking book is significant risk for the Group. The main sources of structural interest rate risk are adverse changes in loan 
and/or deposits interest rates.  The interest rate risk management is integrated with credit- and liquidity risk management 
and is also considered as part of loan portfolio credit risk management and funding risk management. The basis of the 
Group IRRBB strategy is to balanced position in short term (next 12-24 months) perspective and controlled open risk 
position in longer perspective by active management of interest sensitive assets and liabilities structure and maturities. 
Open long term IRRBB risk to economic value of equity (EVE) target level is below 5% of own funds. The Group IRRBB risk 
appetite is closely inter-related to and driven by credit risk and liquidity risk appetite. 
As of 31.12.2019 the banking book interest rate risk (IRRBB) is on low level and the Group interest rate sensitive assets and 
interest rate sensitive liabilities are cumulatively well balanced both in economic value of equity (EVE) and expected net 
interest income (NII) on earnings perspective. 

The table on the next page shows the structure of the interest-bearing assets and interest-bearing liabilities grouped by 
the recalculation dates of interest rates at the principal amounts of receivables and liabilities. 
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NOTE 3.20 LIQUIDITY RISK 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to fulfil its obligations in a timely manner or in the full extent without incurring 
significant costs. Funding risk is the risk of being unable to engage resources without negatively affecting its daily activities 
or financial position. The purpose of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group is able fulfil its obligations in a 
timely manner and in the full extent, and to cope with a liquidity crisis for as long as possible. The Group shall have 
appropriate liquidity for fulfilling its obligations at any given moment in time. The primary objective of the liquidity 
management is to maximize shareholders value and support the Group main activities through a proactive and well-
functioning asset-liability management and through minimizing liquidity and funding risks by conservative liquidity 
management. The profit expectations shall not override liquidity requirements. The liquidity management shall 
contribute to the profitability of the Group, but there shall be clear distinction between liquidity needs and profit targets. 
The Group is clearly identifying the liquidity reserves management as a non-profit center. 
Liquidity risk is one of most significant risks on the Group risk profile. The Group liquidity risk strategy is to maintain low 
and conservative liquidity risk profile and reasonable liquidity reserves. The Group shall avoid significant liquidity risks by 
maintaining rather larger liquidity reserves. The liquidity and funding strength are one of the first priorities of the Group. 
 
Important components of the Group liquidity risk appetite are: 

 conservative and highly liquid liquidity reserves; 
 optimal liquidity reserves structure, liquidity structure of the statement of financial position to ensure that less-

liquid assets are matched with stable funding; 
 to keep survival horizon to ensure the Group has sufficient liquidity to withstand a severely stressed scenario; 
 contingency planning, which defines the actions and sources to be taken should the Group encounter a liquidity 

shortfall in stressed situation. 
 regular stress testing to ensure the liquid reserves are sufficient. 

 
The target risk appetite for any other risk, that may seriously affect the Group liquidity position shall be avoided. 
The Group's appetite for liquidity risk is cautious - the Group prefers secure solutions and tends to hold larger liquidity 
reserves. 
The main objective of the Group´s funding risk appetite is to ensure reasonable and stable funding of the Group lending 
activities. Secondary objective of the funding management is optimization of the costs, size and composition of external 
resources involved, but cost-effectiveness and cost-competitiveness shall never override, stable and conservative funding 
requirements. 
Important components of the Group funding risk appetite are: 

 primary source of funding are retail deposits;   
 appropriate maturity structure of funding;  
 very well diversified funding portfolio;  
 concentrations by customers, maturities etc. shall be avoided; 
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 diversification of funding sources by countries and channels; 
 flexible and attractive funding strategy, pricing above market average;  
 balanced growth of funding and lending portfolios.  

 
The liquidity risk management principles, framework and accountability to ensure the capability adequately assess and 
manage liquidity and funding risk as part of general risk management framework within the Group and its consolidated 
entities set by Liquidity Risk Policy established by the Supervisory Board. 
 
The Group shall all times hold appropriate amount on liquidity reserves (liquidity buffer) with the aim of securing the 
ability of the Group to meet its obligations in the event of a liquidity crisis as defined by the legislation, by the Risk Appetite 
Statement and by the Liquidity Risk Policy. The liquidity reserves shall allow the Group to continue business as usual, at 
least during the tolerance period (both with and without corrections in business activities). The size and composition of 
the liquidity buffer shall take account the results of the liquidity risk stress tests. General requirements for liquidity buffer 
size and composition set by Liquidity Risk Policy. 
 
The Group´s liquidity and funding management and control has three levels. The first level (CFO) has primary 
responsibility for liquidity and funding risk identification, management, monitoring and reporting throughout the Group. 
The second level (risk management function) is responsible for upholding principles and framework and ensuring 
independent monitoring, reporting, assessment and control. The third level of assurance is provided by the Internal Audit.  
Management of the Group´s liquidity and funding are centralized on the group level 
The following tables present the distribution of financial assets and liabilities, excl. derivatives, by due dates and by future 
contractual undiscounted cash flows and in a separate column the statement of financial position balance is disclosed. 
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The following table presents the distribution: 
 

thousands of euros Note 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Current assets
Cash and balances with central bank 10 1 499 0
Amounts due from credit institutions 10 6 299 23
Loans and advances to customers 11 19 511 15 740
Receivables from customers 2 0
Other assets 12 899 993
Total current assets 28 210 16 756

Non-current assets
Loans and advances to customers 11 25 063 13 738
Investment property 13 1 053 1 044
Property, plant and equipment 14 674 663
Right-of-use assets 15 237 0
Intangible assets 16 857 586
Total non-current assets 27 884 16 031
Total assets 56 094 32 787

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Deposits from customers 17 21 715 0
Loans received 17 303 939
Lease liabilities 17,18 74 8
Other financial liabilities 18 1 602 1 374
Total current liabilities 23 694 2 321

Non-current liabilities
Deposits from customers 17 13 689 0
Loans received 17 0 12 128
Total non-current liabilities 13 689 12 128
Total liabilities 37 383 14 449

 
 

NOTE 3.21 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
The following tables show a reconciliation of the opening and closing amounts of financial assets and liabilities which are 
recorded at fair value. 
Under Level 1 the Group has disclosed cash and cash equivalents. As at 31.12.2019 the Group did not have any financial 
derivatives or actively traded assets. Level 2 should be disclosed assets, which are ceased to be actively traded during the 
year and fair values are subsequently obtained using valuation techniques using observable market inputs. As at 
31.12.2019 the Group did not have such assets. Under Level 3 are recorded fewer liquid instruments. Therefore, the Group 
requires significant unobservable inputs to calculate their fair value. 
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NOTE 3.22 OPERATIONAL RISK 
 
Operational risk is risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external 
events. The definition includes compliance and legal risk, but excludes strategic and, reputational risks. 
Legal risk is the risk resulting from non-conformity with or misinterpretation of legislation, contracts, good practice and 
standards of ethics. Legal risk may materialize in any of the above risk types, as the Group may be subject of claim or 
proceedings due to the contractual or other legal responsibilities. 
Compliance risk is risk of allowance to the Group’s business model, reputation and financial conditions, resulting from 
failure to fully meet laws, regulations, internal rules and obligations to customers, employees and other stakeholders. 
Operational risk is inherent part of business. It is neither possible nor cost effective to eliminate all operational risks. 
Therefore, smaller losses are normal part of the operations. The Group operational risk appetite is to keep minimal and 
reasonable operational risk level to minimize the level of operational risk and potential losses, considering strategic 
objectives and principle of economic efficiency.  The Group objective is to ensure well controlled operational risk level 
and management. 
Fraud and criminality monitoring and avoidance is important part of the Group operational risk appetite. The Group shall 
have ability to readily identify losses caused by internal and external fraud and criminality, including cybercrime, and to 
take appropriate measures.  
The inseparable part of the Group risk appetite is reliability and quality of the outsourcing and partners, the correctness 
of the performance of their duties, and the ability by partners to comply with relevant legislation and business standards 
in the conclusion of consumer credit agreements. 
Anti-money laundering and terrorist financing preventing is a very important objective of the Group target operational 
risk profile. The Group must have the capacity, a clear organizational structure and appropriate resources to detect and 
take appropriate action in relation to the prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing. 
Business Continuity Management is the risk of incurring losses resulting from the interruption of normal business 
activities. Interruptions in Group’s infrastructure as well as in the infrastructure that supports Group’s businesses 
(including third party vendors) and the communities in which the Group is located (including public infrastructure like 
electricity, communications etc.). Business Continuity plans for all identified critical processes and for IT systems 
supporting these processes are established by respective units. 
The Group established the group level Recovery Plan in accordance with the Group Recovery and Resolution Directive 
(BRRD) regulatory framework, Financial Crisis Prevention and Resolution Act and complemented by the guidelines and 
technical standards.  The Recovery Plan describes a set of measures that can be applied in distress to restore the sound 
financial position of the Group and to ensure the continuity of critical financial services provided. 
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The Group has a clear objective do not have any appetite for this type of risk and that it has the clear objective of 
minimizing the occurrence of any economic, regulatory or reputational impact on the Group. The Group does not 
intentionally engage in activity that results in violation of the requirements set forth in legal acts or other regulations. 
The Group established operational risk management principles, framework and accountability to ensure the capability 
adequately assess and manage operational risk within the AS Holm Group and its consolidated entities. The operational 
risk management is integrated to all of the Group general management and risk management frameworks. 
The Group general requirements on the operational risk management are:   

 all material operational risk areas shall be identified, assessed, monitored and treated in effective and 
consistent manner; 

 appropriate and reliable risk management tools shall be implemented to support operational risk analysis and 
decision making; 

 every employee is primarily responsible for managing and controlling the operational risks generated in their 
sphere of action in both personal and business conduct; 

 internal controls shall be designed to provide reasonable assurance that the Group has efficient and effective 
operations, assets are safeguarded, reports are reliable. 

The purpose of the operational risk management activity is to move from defensive to preventive risk analysis and loss 
prevention activities. 
  
Accountability, reporting and escalation requirements by operational risk categories, areas and activities by countries on 
activities and by lines of defense established by Operational Risk Policy established by Supervisory Board. 
 

NOTE 3.23  BUSINESS RISKS 
 
According to the Group internal definition business risks are reputational risk and strategic risk.  
Reputational risk is the current or prospective risk to the Group earnings, own funds or liquidity arising from damage to 
the Group reputation. 
Strategic risk is risk the business- and competition environment or impact of regulatory actions to the Group activities 
and achievement of business goals as well as risk of the inadequate strategy or inadequate implementation of strategy or 
changes in customer expectations or inadequate implementation new technologies will result in loss or significantly 
reduce revenues. 
The reputation risk and strategic risk are essential part of the business model and shall be analyzed as part of the strategic 
and operational planning. The Group strategy on reputational risk management is to avoid reputational risks and to avoid 
situations that could potentially lead to a negative impact on the reputation and the accompanying drop in revenue or 
loss of confidence. 
Strategic risk strategy is to control and reduce risk by implementing adequate and suitable to the current economic 
environment strategy, based on comprehensive planning process, as well as to respond adequately and in a timely 
manner to changes. The Group strategic risk target risk profile is on open level - ready to consider all options, proactive, 
decisions made on risk-return balance basis. 
According to the Risk Appetite Statement the Group does not have any risk appetite for reputational risk and that it has 
the clear objective of minimizing the occurrence of any economic, regulatory or reputational impact caused by 
reputational risk. The Group shall avoid situations that could potentially lead to a negative impact on the reputation. 
The strategic and reputational risk are managed by Management Board based on strategic plans approved by the 
Supervisory Board. 
 

NOTE 3.24  OFFSETTING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
During current reporting period the Group has made no offset between financial assets and liabilities. 
 

NOTE 4 OPERATING SEGMENT 
 
The Group has not implemented segment reporting, relevant business decisions are made on entity level.  
Interest income is reported net as Management Board primarily relies on net interest revenue as a performance measure, 
along with the gross income and expense and growth and quality of credit portfolio and allowance losses. 
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NOTE 5 SUBSIDIARY 
 
As at 31.12.2019 the Group has new subsidiary, SIA “Best Lizings“, which is consolidated into current consolidated report.  
 
At the end of September, 2019 Holm Bank AS acquired 51.07% ownership in Latvian entity SIA „Best Lizings“ for total 
consideration of  2 898 thousand euros. First down payment of 1 000 thousand euros was made on September 26th, 2019 
and further 1 898 thousand euros was paid on October 29th, 2019. SIA „Best Lizings“ is under common control of Holm 
Bank AS’s ultimate controlling party. Therefore, the transaction was accounted for as a business combination under 
common control. 
The purpose of the transaction was to expand the Group's operations to foreign markets and to do so by acquiring a 
majority stake in a company already operating in the Latvian market. The subsidiary is a credit provider operating in 
Latvian market since 2008, which offers credit to Latvian companies and consumers through its cooperation partners. 
Upon the acquisition, Holm Bank AS recognized the difference of 1 119 thousand Euro between the consideration 
transferred and the carrying amount of net assets acquired directly in equity (in consolidated retained earnings). 
Comparative amounts have not been restated as if the combination had taken place at the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. 
 
As at 31.12.2019 and 21.09.2018 the Group had no affiliated companies. 
 

SIA „Best Lizings“
Summarized statement of Financial Position
thousands of euros 31.12.2019 30.09.2019
Loans and advances to customers and other current assets 2 951 3 781
Non-current assets 23 18
Current liabilities 446 310
Non-current liabilities 0 0
Total net assets 2 527 3 489

Summarized statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

thousands of euros
01.10.2019-
31.12.2019

Total net interest and fee income 148
Loss before income tax -949
Income tax -13
Net profit -962
Total comprehensive income -962
Profit and other comprehensive income allocated to non-controlling interests -471

Summarized statement of Cash Flows

thousands of euros
01.10.2019-
31.12.2019

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 176
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities -8
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 78
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 246
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 149
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 395
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NOTE 6 NET INTEREST INCOME 
 

Interest income 

thousands of euros 2019 2018
Interest income using effective interest calculation
Hire-purchase 4 723 7 516
Credit card 3 598 0
Small loan 1 000 0
Leasing 349 0
Business loan 84 0
From balances with credit institutions 0 36
Other loans 384 455
Total 10 137 8 007

Interest expenses

thousands of euros 2019 2018

Deposits from customers -345 0
Loans received -956 -946
Cash and balances with central banks -1 0
Total -1 302 -946

Net interest income 8 835 7 061

Interest income of loans by customer location 

thousands of euros 2019 2018

Estonia 9 920 8 007
Latvia 217 0
Total 10 137 8 007

 
 

NOTE 7 NET FEE INCOME 
 

Fee expense 
thousands of euros 2019 2018
Expenses related to partners -731 -1 187
Expenses related to cards -197 -315
Transaction costs -67 -20
Other fee expense -49 -8
Total -1 044 -1 531

Net fee income -1 044 -1 531

 
 
The Group recognizes under fees and commission income the deposits early cancellation fees of 2% charged to customer. 
Fees are recognized on a cash basis. Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial 
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instrument measured at amortized cost, such as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the 
instrument applying the effective interest method and presented in “Net interest income”. 
Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognized under “Fee and 
commission expenses”.  
In 2018 expenses related to charge cards included a substantial amount of on-off expenses due to the replacement of 
charge cards following the liquidation of the Company's ex-partner Versobank AS. 

NOTE 8 OPERATING EXPENSES 

Operating expenses
thousands of euros 2019 2018
Wages, salaries and bonuses -1 898 -1 118
Social security and other taxes -630 -374
Salaries and associated charges -2 528 -1 493
IT expenses -1 117 -282
Marketing expenses -778 -273
Consultation expenses -240 -229
Office expenses -240 -229
Depreciation and amortization -240 -126
Operating expenses -126 -135
Transportation and communication costs -135 -182
Other administrative expenses -120 -139
Information services -106 -71
Other staff costs -99 -59
Other operating expenses -218 -120
Total other operating expenses -3 419 -1 844
Total operating expenses -5 947 -3 337

 
Average number of employees working in the Group in 2019 was 86 (2018: 65). 

NOTE 9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

thousands of euros 2019 2018
Advance corporate income tax (14%) 76 0
Income tax paid on dividends 46 0
Total income tax expense 122 0

 

NOTE 10 RECEIVABLES FROM CENTRAL BANKS AND CREDIT 
INSTITUTIONS 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Demand and term deposits with maturity of less than 3 months * 6 299 23
Statutory reserve capital at central bank 140 0
Demand deposit from central bank 1 359 0
Total 7 797 23

 
* cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows   
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Mandatory banking reserve as at 31.12.2019 was 1% (2018: 0% Holm Bank AS received a banking license from the 
European Central Bank on 02.04.2019) of all financial resources collected (deposits from customers and loans received). 
The reserve requirement is to be fulfilled as a monthly average in Euros or in the foreign securities preapproved by the 
central bank. 

NOTE 11 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Business loans 5 109 2 694

incl. leasing 2 955 2 498
incl. business loan 1 961 0
incl. hire-purchase 191 196
incl. small loan 2 0

Loans to private individuals 41 141 27 720
incl. hire-purchase 17 422 17 320
incl. credit card 14 995 9 781
incl. small loan 8 724 618

Total 46 250 30 414
Loss allowances -1 675 -936
Total 44 575 29 478

 
 
 
Allowance losses accumulated during the year differ from the amount of allowance losses recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss, that have been written off earlier as uncollectible claims. During 2019 uncollectible claim had been received 
in the amount 335 thousand euro (31.12.2018: 0 euro). These receipts were recorded among allowance losses in the 
statement of profit or loss. 
 

Allowance for impairment of loans to customers

thousands of euros 2019
01.01.2019 -936

Arising during the period -2 199
Utilized 1 460

31.12.2019 -1 675
Allowance for impairment of loans to customers

thousands of euros 2018

01.01.2018 -4 177

Arising during the period -163

Utilized 3 404

31.12.2018 -936
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NOTE 12 OTHER ASSETS  
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Financial assets
Guarantee deposits of VISA 341 469
Subtotal 341 469
Non-financial assets
Receivables to hire-purchase partners 219 379
Prepayments are expected to be used within 12 months 161 145
Oher claims 179 0
Subtotal 558 524
Total 899 993

 
 
Prepayments include office rent deposit, insurance, periodized prepayments and training. 
Prepayments are expected to be received or used within 12 months of the end of the reporting period and are therefore 
considered current assets. 
 
 

NOTE 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Acquisition cost
At the beginning of the period 1 096 1 494
Additions 54 155
Sale of the assets 0 -553
At the end of the period 1 150 1 096

Depreciation and impairment
At the beginning of the period -52 -43
Depreciation charge for the period -45 -9
At the end of the period -97 -52

Net book value at the beginning 1 044 1 451
Net book value at the end 1 053 1 044
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NOTE 14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Land and buildings

Acquisition cost
At the beginning of the period 669 393
Additions 0 276
At the end of the period 669 669

Depreciation and impairment
At the beginning of the period -33 -17
Depreciation charge for the period -24 -16
At the end of the period -57 -33

Net book value at the beginning 636 376
Net book value at the end 612 636

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Plant and equipment

Acquisition cost
At the beginning of the period 60 60
Additions 35 0
Additions through acquisitions of subsidiary 18 0
At the end of the period 113 60

Depreciation and impairment
At the beginning of the period -34 -18
Depreciation charge for the period -17 -16
At the end of the period -51 -34

Net book value at the beginning 27 42
Net book value at the end 62 27
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NOTE 15 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Cars

Acquisition cost

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Change in accounting policies (IFRS16) 94 0

At the end of the period 94 0

Depreciation and impairment

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Depreciation charge for the year -21 0

At the end of the period -21 0

Net book value at the beginning 0 0

Net book value at the end 73 0

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Offices

Acquisition cost

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Additions 204 0

At the end of the period 204 0

Depreciation and impairment

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Depreciation charge for the year -40 0

At the end of the period -40 0

Net book value at the beginning 0 0

Net book value at the end 164 0

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018

Lease liabilities

Short-term

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Change in accounting policies (IFRS16) 94 0

Additions 248 0

Accretion of interests 1 0

Repayments -88 0

Periodization -161 0

At the end of the period 94 0
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Long-term

At the beginning of the period 0 0

Periodization 161 0

At the end of the period 161 0

Lease liabilities in total at the beginning 0 0

Lease liabilities in total at the end 255 0

thousands of euros 2019 2018

Recognized in profit or loss

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets -61 0

Interest expense on lease liabilities -1 0

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 0 0

Expense relating to leases of short-term leases 0 0

Total amount recognised in profit or loss -62 0

thousands of euros

Operating lease commitments as at 31.12.2018 105

Weighted average incremental borrowings rate 01.01.2019 1,30%

Discounted operating lease commitments 01.01.2019 94

Less: 

Commitments relating to leases of low value assets 0

Commitments relating to short-term leases 0

Add:

Commitments relating to leases previously calssified as finance leases 94

Lease liabilities as at 31.12.2018 94

 
 
 
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach of adoption with the date of initial application 
of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the standard is recognized in retained earnings at the date of initial application and comparative information is 
not restated. 
 
The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at 1 
January 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying 
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. 
 
The Group recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating leases, 
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application, i.e. 
1 January 2019. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related 
prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognized - the Group applied this approach to all leases. 
 
The discount rates used for the rental portfolio vary between a weighted average of 1.3% and 1.66%. 
The maximum lease period is estimated at 132 months (offices). 
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NOTE 16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

thousands of euros 31.12.2019 21.09.2018

Acquisition cost

At the beginning of the period 673 341

Additions 364 332

Other changes 1 0

At the end of the period 1 038 673

Depreciation and impairment

At the beginning of the period -87 -30

Depreciation charge for the period -94 -57

At the end of the period -181 -87

Net book value at the beginning 586 311

Net book value at the end 857 586

 
 
On the line of other changes are shown the effect of the addition of the right-of-use assets and lease obligations at the 
time of the acquisition of Latvian subsidiary. 

NOTE 17 LOANS AND DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS  
 
31.12.2019

thousands of euros Individuals Legal entities
Financial 

intermediate

Other 
financial 

intermediate
Total

Demand deposit 481 0 0 0 481
Term deposits 33 726 749 0 200 34 675
Loan liabilities 0 300 0 0 300
Lease liabilities 0 0 74 0 74
Accrued interest liability 243 3 3 1 250
Total 34 450 1 052 77 201 35 780

31.12.2018

thousands of euros Individuals Legal entities
Financial 

intermediate

Other 
financial 

intermediate
Total

Loan liabilities 0 0 13 066 0 13 066
Lease liabilities 0 0 8 0 8
Total 0 0 13 074 0 13 074
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NOTE 18 OTHER LIABILITIES 
 

Financial liabilities
thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Financial liabilities
Debts to partners 883 680
Other short-term financial liabilities 99 38
Lease liabilities 164 0
Subtotal 1 146 718
Non-financial liabilities
Tax liabilities 81 44
Payables to employees 165 74
Dividend payables 48 355
Other short-term liabilities 161 183
Subtotal 456 656
Total 1 602 1 374

 
 
Payables to employees consist of vacation pay accrual for the reporting period and the increase in liabilities is caused by 
the increase in the number of employees during the year.  
All liabilities are payable within 12 months and are therefore recognized as current liabilities. 
 

NOTE 19 EQUITY  
 

Transactions with share capital and share premium

thousands of euros
Number of 

shares
Share 

capital
Share 

premium Total
Share capital as at 31.12.2019 1 5 20 995 21 000
Share capital as at 31.12.2018 1 5 20 995 21 000

 
 
 
Share is fully paid by non-monetary contribution of 100% shares of Holm Bank AS. From the moment the contribution was 
done, the consolidation group was formed. 
 
In the reporting period, Holm Bank AS paid dividends to shareholder in amount of 300 thousand euros, directly to the final 
beneficiary from the allocation of previous periods. As at 31.12.2019, the retained losses of the Group totalled – 3 525 
thousand euros (31.12.2018: -2 661 thousand euros). As at 31.12.2019 (and also at 31.12.2018) no allocations can be made, 
as the Group had retained losses.  The Group is planning to cover the result of first period from the future earnings. 
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NOTE 20 CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

NON-CANCELLABLE AGREEMENTS 

thousands of euros
Undrawn loan 
commitments

Liability in contractual amount 31.12.2019 15 930
Liability in contractual amount 31.12.2018 15 406

 
 
Undrawn loan commitments represent off-balance sheet liability of credit cards unused limits. 
Tax authorities have the right to review the Group tax records for up to 5 years after submitting the tax declaration and 
upon finding errors, impose additional taxes, interest and fines. The tax authorities have not performed any tax audits at 
the Group during 2018-2019. 
 

NOTE 21 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  
 
Related parties include shareholders of the Group’s owner, the Group executive and higher management and their 
relatives as well as companies related to or under the control or significant influence of the shareholder's owner. During 
the reporting period there has been no transactions with the Group executive and higher management and their relatives. 
In 2019, remuneration paid to Bank’s Management Board and the Supervisory Board totalled 537 thousand euros (2018: 
230 thousand euros), including all taxes. 
 

Transactions
thousands of euros 2019 2018
Interest expense on loans received 163 243
incl. shareholders, their related entities and close relatives that have
significant influence

163 243

Balances
thousands of euros 31.12.2019 31.12.2018
Receivables as at the end of the period 0 16
incl. shareholders, their related entities and close relatives that have
significant influence

0 16

Loans liabilities as at the end of the period 300 0
incl. shareholders, their related entities and close relatives that have
significant influence

300 0

Other liabilities as at the end of the period 10 14
incl. shareholders, their related entities and close relatives that have
significant influence

10 14
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NOTE 22 UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
PARENT COMPANY  
Parent company's unconsolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act of the 
Republic of Estonia, and do not constitute parent company's separate financial statements in the meaning of IAS 27 
“Separate financial statements".  
Separate primary statements of the parent have been prepared using the same accounting policies that have been used 
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, except for investments into subsidiaries, which are reported 
at cost in the parent’s primary financial statements. 
 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

thousands of euros
21.09.2018-
31.12.2019

Other income 300
Net operating income 300

Profit (loss) before income tax 300

Profit (loss) for the year 300

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 0

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 300
Equity sharehoIders 300

 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

thousands of euros Notes 31.12.2019 21.09.2018

Assets
Other assets 300 0
Investments in subsidiaries 21 000 21 000
Total assets 21 300 21 000

Equity
Share capital 19 5 5
Share premium 19 20 995 20 995
Retained earnings 300 0
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 21 300 21 000
Total equity 21 300 21 000

Total liabilities and equity 21 300 21 000

 
 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

During the reporting period no monetary transaction took place regrading accounts of parent company. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

thousands of euros
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Total

Balance as at 21.09.2018 5 20 995 0 21 000

Profit for the year 0 0 300 300

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income (loss) 0 0 300 300

Balance as at 31.12.2019 5 20 995 300 21 300

Unconsolidated equity at end of period 31.12.2019 21.09.2018

Investments in subsidiaries: 21 000 21 000

Carrying value under the equity method -3 525 -2 556

Adjusted unconsolidated equity at end of period 17 475 18 444

 
 

NOTE 23 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
IMPACT AND MEASURES RELATED WITH THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

The events of the first half of 2020 have had a significant impact on the economy, when deepening uncertainty in the 
economy is forcing private customers to adopt accumulated savings and companies have been forced to postpone 
investment decisions or even worse, curtail the business. As the uncertainty changed the outlook of the future operating 
environment, the involvement of loan money also decreased significantly at the beginning of the second quarter. This, in 
turn, led to the decrease in sales volumes across all products, which has continued at the beginning of the third quarter. 
 
At the end of the first half of the year, it will be possible to see more clearly and also assess the more serious consequences 
of the corona crisis and its effects on both individuals and companies, for whom the changes have been felt to a greater 
or lesser extent in most economic sectors. Due to the changed environment and the special situation, we took into account 
the changed impact factors when making credit decisions and also proceeded from specific prospects in different 
industries. However, in the deteriorating economic situation, the payment behavior of the Bank's customers and the 
credit quality of the portfolio have remained at an acceptable level. 
 
The Group has made changes in operational processes in order to follow the dynamics and quality of the loan portfolio. 
Increased attention has been paid to portfolio credit and liquidity risk management, and additional reporting has been 
introduced to assess and analyses weekly changes at the management level. Group’s financial forecasts have been 
adjusted in connection with the decision taken to postpone cross-border activities in Sweden until August 2020. We have 
analyzed potential changes also in the financial forecasts for operations in Estonia and Latvia. As part of the ICAAP and 
ILAAP process, we have performed additional stress tests. In the future, we will monitor changes in the economic situation 
on an ongoing basis and adjust financial forecasts when necessary.  
 
In order to ensure the sustainable servicing of both business and private customers, in the light of changed economic 
environment, we have adopted a flexible strategy regarding grace periods. After evaluation customer readiness and 
financial ability to service the debt and reaching to the conclusion that the payment difficulties are currently of a 
temporary nature, we have provided grace period usually between 2-4 months. The first grace periods are coming to an 
end, but no significant decline in payments has been determined. 
 
According to management estimates the possible changes on macroeconomic environment caused by COVID -19 
pandemic may have a negative effect on performance. As currently there are no sufficient and reliable data to forecast the 
total impact of the possible second crisis, the analysis focuses to possible weaknesses and to the reverse stress testing on 
going concern model.  
 
As a result of the analysis, the Management Board estimates that the Group's current capital and liquidity position and 
ability to cover the risks to which the Group may be exposed 12 months ahead, including uncertainty about the impact of 
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Translation of the Estonian Original 
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholder of OÜ Koduliising 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OÜ Koduliising and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (Estonia), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the requirements of code of ethics.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
unqualified opinion.  

Other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of management report, but 
does not consist of the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 
 
Tallinn, 01 October 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
Olesia Abramova   Riina Alt 
Authorised Auditor’s number 561  Authorised Auditor’s number 618 
Ernst & Young Baltic AS 
Audit Company’s Registration number 58 

 


